SCRUTINY : TRANSFORMATION,
COMMERCIALISATION AND CORPORATE
CENTRE
4.30 pm TUESDAY, 20TH JULY, 2021
REMOTE MEETING - MICROSOFT TEAMS
A Pre-Meeting will take place prior to this meeting and a separate
invitation will be sent from Scrutiny Support Officers to
Committee Members only

Please note that today’s meeting will be recorded.
This recording may be broadcast on the Authority’s internet
All attendees will be in view of the camera and, by attending you are consenting to
being filmed and to the possible use of those images and sound recordings being used
as outlined above.

This Agenda has been prepared by the Democratic Services Department. Any
member of the public requiring information should contact the department on
(01685) 725284 or email democratic@merthyr.gov.uk.
Any reference documents referred to but not published as part of this agenda
can be found on the Council’s website or intranet under Background Papers.

AGENDA
1.

Apologies for Absence

2.

Declarations of Interest (including whipping
declarations)
Members are reminded of their personal
responsibility to declare any personal and
prejudicial interest in respect of matters contained
in this agenda in accordance with the provisions of

the Local Government and Finance Act 1992
relating to Council Tax, the Local Government Act
2000, the Council’s Constitution and the Members
Code of Conduct
Note:
(a) Members are reminded that they must
identify the item number and subject matter
that their interest relates to and signify the
nature of the personal interest and
(b) Where Members withdraw from a Meeting
as a consequence of the disclosure of a
prejudicial interest they must notify the
Chair when they leave
3.

Tackling Poverty
To consider the attached report

4.

Forward Work Programme 2021/22
To consider the attached report

5.

5 - 36

37 - 70

Scrutiny Referrals, Feedback and Follow up
Actions
To receive an update from the Chair

6.

Reflection and Evaluation of Meeting
To receive an update from the Chair

7.

Any other business deemed urgent by the Chair

COMPOSITION:

Councillors: T Skinner (Chair)
J Amos (Vice-Chair)
Councillors: H R Jones, D Sammon, W R Smith,
L Davies and C T Jones
Co-optees:

C Payne, G Williams and S Fureed

together with appropriate officers
If you would prefer a copy of this agenda in another language please contact
democratic@merthyr.gov.uk or telephone 01685 725284

Agenda Item 3
Civic Centre, Castle Street,
Merthyr Tydfil CF47 8AN
Main Tel: 01685 725000

www.merthyr.gov.uk

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE REPORT
Date Written
Report Author
Service Area
Committee Date

8th July 2021
Mike Parry
Finance
20th July 2021

To: Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen

Tackling Poverty
1.0

SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1

The report considers the Councils debt collection process, specifically relating to the
collection of Council Tax & Business Rates and also its impact on citizens.

1.2

The report has been compiled as a consequence of discussions held with the
Citizen’s Advice Bureau in 2019/20. It considers current and historical issues around
debt management within the Council.

1.3

The report also outlines how the Council approaches its responsibility towards its
citizens of maximising income from local tax collection while having appropriate
regard to the welfare and financial hardship of those who have to pay.

2.0

RECOMMENDATION(S)

2.1

The content of this report is discussed and noted.

3.0

INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

3.1

Scrutiny Committee has requested this report to consider the Councils debt
collection processes and debt management in relation to Council Tax and Business
Rates arrears. It also considers the impact these policies and processes have on its
citizens.

3.2

The report will cover the following:


The legislative background

Page 3









3.3

The debt recovery processes and timetable
The use of Enforcement Agents
Fee structure
Other post Liability Order remedies
Impact of Covid Pandemic
Benefit & Hardship safety nets.
Vulnerability

Legislation
The primary legislation relating to the Recovery of outstanding Council Tax are
contained within The Council Tax (Administration and Enforcement) Regulations
1992 (as amended). Also the Tribunals Courts and Enforcement Act 2007
(introduced by Government in 2014).This legislation replaced Bailiffs with
Enforcement Agents and provided new and revised legislative powers for those
Agents.
The primary legislation relating to the recovery of Business Rates is contained within
the Local Government Finance Act 1988 (as amended).
Both functions are now devolved to Welsh Government and numerous amendments
have since been made to the primary legislation. However, the basic principles and
processes relating to debt recovery remain as per the primary legislation.

3.4

Debt recovery processes and timetable
Council Tax and Business Rates arrears are collected in accordance with both the
legislation outlined in 3.3 and the Councils own internal recovery processes and
policy. A copy of the policy in this regard is attached at Appendix 1.
The sequence of recovery notices is as follows;


Initial demand notice – The Council issues demands as early as possible
after notification of a change of circumstances from the customer or during
the annual billing process.



Reminders – Issued within 20 working days of an instalment being missed.



Final Notice – If the account is not brought up to date in accordance with the
reminder, a Final Notice will be issued after the elapse of a further 7 days.
The effect of this notice is to render the whole outstanding balance due for
the rest of the year immediately payable.



Summons – A summons to the Local Magistrates Court will be issued if the
Final Notice is not paid. The cost to the customer of issuing this notice is £50.

Page 4



3.5

Liability Order – If the Court is satisfied that the charge is legally payable
and remains outstanding, then the Magistrates are required to issue a
Liability Order. The cost to the Charge payers in this instance is £20.
Following the granting of a Liability Order, a notice is forwarded to the
Charge payer advising them that they have 14 days to pay in full or contact
the Council to make an arrangement. Failure to do this results in the
instigation of post liability recovery. See Appendix 1 (5.4 – 6.5). The method
of recovery is decided by officers investigating each case individually and
reaching a decision based on any previous recovery information available on
the charge payers account.

The use of Enforcement Agents
The Council has its own internal certificated Enforcement Agents. Retaining the
service in house helps to ensure control of the debt recovery process. It fully
considers the customers financial situation and acts appropriately having regard to
ability to pay and any vulnerability issues. It also serves to ensure that costs are
applied fairly and consistently and in accordance with the legislation. The Council
also has its own internal code of conduct which is attached at Appendix 2

3.6

Fee Structure
The fees that can be applied to defaulting Council Tax and Business Rates
accounts are statutory and are listed below;





3.7

Issue of summons - £50
Issue of Liability Order - £20
Notice of compliance - £75
Visit by Agent - £235

Other Post Liability Remedies
Attachment of earnings
Where the Council is made aware that a charge payer is in employment, then it may
apply directly to the Employer to have any arrears deducted directly from the charge
payers salary.
Attachment of Benefit
Where the Charge payer is in receipt of an attachable benefit (eg Universal Credit),
the Council may approach the DWP and have any arrears deducted directly from their
benefit payments. (£20.49 per month).
Other remedies
Under certain circumstances the Council may also apply any of the following
remedies;


Bankruptcy

Page 5




3.8

Charging Orders
Insolvency

Impact of Covid Pandemic
The Council, along with all other Welsh Authorities, suspended the recovery of
Council Tax and Business Rates during the early part of the pandemic in financial
year 2020/21. The purpose of this suspension was to alleviate the financial
pressures that some of the Authorities most vulnerable customers and businesses
were experiencing.
Recovery processes recommenced in January 2021 and have continued thereafter,
the first Court action having taken place on the 10th February 2021.
The suspension of recovery resulted in a fall in Council Tax collection of 1.5%, (95.5
in 2019/20, 94.0% in 2020/21. However, additional funding has been received from
Welsh government to offset against these shortfalls.
The impact on Business Rates collection is difficult to quantify as the Business Rates
grant schemes have made reliable comparisons with previous years of questionable
value and accuracy.

3.9

Benefit and Hardship Safety Nets
Council Tax Reduction
A means tested reduction calculated with reference to the customers liability,
household circumstances and income. The award can be a maximum of 100% of
liability.
Housing Benefit
A means tested benefit which assists customers in rented accommodation to make
their rental payments. As per the Council Tax Reduction scheme, the award is made
with reference to the tenants rental liability, household income and make up. The
award can be a maximum of 100% of rental liability.
Discretionary Housing payments
Where tenants are experiencing financial hardship or other difficulties which impacts
on their ability to pay their rent, they may apply for a Discretionary Housing Payment.

.

Hardship Relief – (S13A relief).
The Council may consider requests from customers to apply hardship relief in relation
to Council Tax liabilities. (Eg flooding of premises and Care leavers relief).
The Councils Policy document in this regard is attached at Appendix 3.

Page 6

3.10 Vulnerability
Underpinning all of the aforementioned recovery and benefit processes and policies
is the consideration of client vulnerability. This has become even more topical and of
greater importance due to the impact of the pandemic. Many of our customers are
experiencing financial and emotional and mental health issues which have to be
carefully and compassionately considered before taking any course of action.
How to deal with vulnerable people is addressed in both the Recovery Policy at
Appendix 1 & the Code of Conduct at Appendix 2.

4.0

WHERE WE WERE

4.1

Council Tax
Prior to the pandemic, collection rates for Council had been static for a number of
years at around 95.5%. This placed the Council in the bottom quartile of Welsh
Authorities in regard to this indicator. This can be explained by the high level of
Council Tax within the County Borough, the higher deprivation levels and relatively
lower income levels of our Council Tax payers. The high Council Tax demonstrates
the fact that a high proportion of the properties in the County Borough are in the
lower bands, (A & B) which makes an already widely acknowledged regressive tax
system even more so for our constituents.
In 2019/20, Council Tax collection was 95.5%. This fell to 94.0% in 2020/21 as a
direct consequence of the suspension of recovery coupled with peoples inability to
pay due to the financial pressures placed on many by the pandemic.
Business Rates
Prior to the pandemic and historically, the Council has performed exceptionally well
in respect of Business Rates collection, consistently achieving collection rates of
98 -99%. This placed the Council in the top quartile of Welsh Authorities in regards
to this measure.

Benefits
Historically, the full suite of Benefits administered by the Council have been
processed in a timely and accurate manner. The processing times being consistent
with other Welsh and English Authorities. DWP subsidy claims have been presented
on time and certified as accurate and the Council has not been subjected to any
error clawback from the DWP.
An underspend of the Discretionary Housing fund occurred in 2019,20. This resulted
in the introduction of a more robust monitoring system to ensure this was not
repeated.
The introduction of Generic working between the Benefit and Financial Assessment

Page 7

team in 2019 has proven successful. The whole team is now able to process all
benefit application regardless of type. This has built in resilience to the service and
has assisted in ‘smoothing’ the workload peaks and troughs. Eg during annual
billing.

5.0

WHERE WE ARE NOW

5.1

Council Tax
Collection rates for financial year 2021/22, (thus far), have recovered to pre
pandemic levels. They are monitored on a monthly basis and reported to
senior management.
Generic working for the recovery teams has been introduced effective from April
2021. This should result in improved performance and resilience.
As additional member of staff was appointed in April 2021 for a fixed term with the
specific task of contacting customers at an earlier stage in the recovery process.
Thereby giving customers more time to pay and avoiding any unnecessary court
action and associated costs.

Business Rates
A suite of Welsh Government Grants have helped to ensure the viability of many
businesses throughout the pandemic. Grants totalling £37 million have been made in
2020/21, 2021.22. The speed, accuracy and efficiency of the Councils response has
been noted by Welsh Government.
Benefits
Processing times and claim accuracy continue to be monitored and reported on a
monthly basis. Performance within the section is comparable with other Welsh
Authorities.

6.0

WHERE WE WANT TO BE

6.1

Council Tax
Improving or more realistically maintaining current collection levels. This is a
pragmatic approach given the high levels of Council Tax.
In line with the digital transformation agenda, Improving and expanding our digital
offering.
Business Rates
Returning to pre -pandemic collection levels whilst continuing to support businesses
in conjunction with the Regeneration department. Continue to develop and further

Page 8

enhance working practices and relationships with other internal departments
dealing with businesses.

Benefits
Continue to process claims in a timely and accurate manner. Ensure compliance
with new initiative and legislative changes.
In line with the digital transformation agenda, Improving and expanding our digital
offering

7.0

WHAT WE NEED TO DO NEXT

7.1

Council Tax
Continue expansion of digital offering, monitoring and report on impact of pro- active
recovery agenda.
Business Rates
Work closely with other teams regeneration etc. grants teams meetings have proven
highly successful as with Council Tax, expand and improve digital offering
Benefits
Continue to ensure claims are processed accurately and in a timely manner. as with
Council Tax, expand and improve digital offering

8.0
8.1

CONTRIBUTION TO WELLBEING OBJECTIVES
The Council’s wellbeing objectives are supported since the proposals are critical in
ensuring the financial sustainability of the Council thus enabling the continued
delivery of essential Council services for the community.:

CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S/OFFICER’S NAME
TITLE

COUNCILLOR’S NAME
CABINET MEMBER FOR

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s)

Document(s) Date

Document Location

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s
Constitution?

Page 9

Appendix 1

MERTHYR TYDFIL COUNTY
BOROUGH COUNCIL

COUNCIL TAX AND BUSINESS RATES
RECOVERY POLICY

Page 10

SECTIONS
1.0 Policy Intentions
2.0 The Council’s Guiding Principles
3.0 The Revenues Service – Code of Conduct
4.0 Payment Arrangements
5.0 The Council’s Recovery Processes
6.0 Further recovery options available to the Council
7.0 Absconders
8.0 Working with others
Vulnerability Criteria

1.0 Policy Intentions
1.1 The aims of this policy are to:






Help minimise debts to the Authority and improve the Council’s income
levels through the efficient and effective collection of Council Tax and
Business Rates;
Effectively pursue all amounts due to the Council so that all taxpayers
and ratepayers who have the ability to pay do so;
Ensure that the debtor’s circumstances (where known) are taken into
account when deciding the most appropriate form of recovery action to
take;
Treat individuals consistently and fairly, regardless of age, sex, gender,
disability, race and sexual orientation, and;
Protect individual rights under Data Protection and Human Rights
legislation.

1.2 A prime intention of the Council is to operate sensitive debt recovery
procedures which do not place the individual in hardship and where possible
do not affect a businesses financial viability. This will be achieved by having
realistic, flexible methods of payment that can be adapted to the
circumstances of the taxpayer or ratepayer.
1.3 Prevention is the first essential step in the effective recovery of debt.
There are a number of measures that can be taken to minimise indebtedness
at an early stage which reduces the necessity for costly enforcement action.
This not only reduces cost but also works towards avoiding potential hardship

Page 11

for taxpayers and ratepayers.
1.4 To achieve this we believe it is essential that we promote early contact
with taxpayers and ratepayers, establish the correct amount that is payable
and make mutually acceptable arrangements to pay.
1.5 At all stages of billing, collection and recovery of Council Tax and
Business Rates, the Council will give customers the opportunity to make
individual arrangements to pay. Where a customer defaults on the
arrangement on more than two occasions, this facility will be withdrawn and
only re-instated with the express permission of the Senior Recovery Officer.
1.6 The Council will promote the take-up of all available reductions for Council
Tax and Business Rates to reduce our customers’ liability where
circumstances allow.
1.7 The Council when discharging the functions to which this policy relates will
comply with the relevant legislation and have regard to relevant government
guidance and policy.

2.0 The Council’s Guiding Principles
2.1 This policy reflects the Council’s Guiding Principles by:






Treating taxpayers and ratepayers as individuals ‘where everyone
matters’ by focusing on the needs of individual customers when
recovering debt
Ensuring everyone has equal opportunity to pay by providing a high
quality customer focused service
Delivering an open and transparent service which can demonstrate the
efficient and effective collection of Council Tax and Business Rates
whilst helping people to maximise their income through the promotion
of exemptions, reliefs, discounts and benefits
Ensuring value for money by maximising the income to the Council
through efficient and effective recovery processes.

2.2 It is recognised and accepted that the Voluntary Sector advice agencies,
debt support organisations that operate in the County Borough have a key role to play in
both the prevention of debt and the debt recovery process.
As such the Council will continue to support and work in partnership with such
organisations.
3.0 The Revenues Service – Code of Conduct
3.1 The Revenues Service will;


Provide help and advice to taxpayers and ratepayers in a clear,

Page 12















accurate and understandable way
Maintain contact details to ensure quick and easy contact can be made
where the need arises
Ensure bills, reminders and other notices are issued in a timely
manner, meeting all legal requirements.
Encourage taxpayers and ratepayers or their representatives to make
contact as soon as possible where they will have difficulty in making or
maintaining their payments
Treat taxpayers and ratepayers as individuals taking account, wherever
possible, of known personal circumstances to determine the most
appropriate action to be taken
Keep the taxpayer and ratepayer informed of the action being taken
and other types of action that may be taken
Communicate in Plain English without using jargon or unnecessary
technical or legal content
Provide support for vulnerable taxpayers and ratepayers through home
visits as required
Provide and maintain, upon request, recovery documentation in
Welsh and will make appropriate translation services available to
taxpayers and ratepayers
Promote and work in partnership with local debt advice agencies to
ensure those in financial difficulty get good quality debt advice
Liaise with the Council’s Benefits Service to identify accounts where
outstanding benefit issues need resolving
Support Businesses who are suffering financial difficulty by giving
advice regarding relief, including mandatory and discretionary relief
and small business rate relief
Deal with complaints in line with the Council’s Corporate Complaints
Policy
Work with others to check the information given to the Council by
taxpayers and ratepayers and to improve the Council’s services. The
Council may give information to other organisations as the law allows,
for example to safeguard against crime.

4.0 Payment Arrangements
4.1 Taxpayers and ratepayers who are experiencing personal and financial
difficulties and struggling to pay their Council Tax and Business Rates will be
encouraged to undertake an income and expenditure analysis with the
Council to ascertain the best method and rate of recovery.
4.2 Taxpayers and ratepayers will also be advised of other organisations that
can help with debt advice.
4.3 An individual's financial and personal circumstances will be assessed
before any arrangement is made.
4.4 When agreeing an arrangement to pay with a taxpayer or ratepayer,
Recovery Officers will refer to the Council’s Guidance on Vulnerability

Page 13

(Attached Appendix 1 – Vulnerability Criteria).
4.5 The Council will make arrangements with the taxpayer, ratepayer or bona
fide representative, including, but not limited to, husband/wife, partner, debt
advisor, executor or solicitor. Arrangements will only be made with
representatives, where there is written or express authority for the
representative to act on behalf of the taxpayer or ratepayer whose name
appears on the bill.
4.6 When making arrangements to pay the Council will seek to clear debts
within the financial year of the liability. Where this is not possible, the Council
will seek to reach an agreement that allows, as a minimum, the payment of
the continuing liability plus an affordable amount off any arrears.
Arrangements will be assessed based upon the affordability and sustainability
for payment and seek to ensure that the debt is paid off within a reasonable
period.
4.7 The Council will do everything it can to help residents to make the most of
their incomes and reduce their debts before they become a problem. By
agreeing reasonable arrangements, the Council will seek to avoid, where
possible, additional court costs, collection agent fees and administration fees
being added to the debt.
4.8 Any taxpayer or ratepayer who wishes to dispute the level of payment
under an arrangement will have their case reviewed by the Senior Recovery
Officer.
4.9 Where a taxpayer or ratepayer makes an arrangement to pay but fails to
keep to that arrangement, the Council will take reasonable steps to establish
the cause of non-payment and subject to Section 1.5 of this policy; the
Council may continue with the same arrangements, amend the arrangements
or take other recovery action.
4.10 Whether the arrangement is made by telephone or by personal contact,
the Council will confirm the arrangement in writing, clearly detailing the
arrangement and the consequences of not meeting the payments.
5.0 The Council’s Recovery Processes
5.1 Bills
5.1.1 The Council will issue bills, revised bills and, where necessary,
substitute bills as early as possible taking into account the circumstances of
our customers.
5.1.2 Direct Debit will be promoted to customers as this is the easiest, most
cost effective method of payment.

Page 14

5.2 Reminder Letters
5.2.1 Reminders will be issued within 20 working days of an instalment being
missed. The reminder will inform taxpayers and ratepayers of the amount in
arrears and that payment is required within 7 days and that failure to pay will
result in further recovery action being taken for the full year’s charge.
5.2.2 Following a reminder, if instalments are brought up to date or an
agreement between the taxpayer or ratepayer and the Council is made, no
further action will be taken providing future payments are made correctly.
5.2.3 A final reminder may be issued before any further recovery action is
taken.
5.3 Summons – The Application for a Liability Order
5.3.1 Where taxpayers or ratepayers fail to respond to a reminder or final
reminder notice or default on an arrangement to pay, the Council may apply to
the Magistrates Court for a Liability Order to be issued.
5.3.2 If the court is satisfied that the charge is legally payable and remains
unpaid, the Magistrates are required to issue a Liability Order. Taxpayers/
ratepayers who do not attend Court are usually dealt with in their absence.
5.3.3 The Liability Order provides the Council with a number of options which
they can use to recover the amount due plus any costs involved.
5.4 Liability Orders
5.4.1 A Liability Order may be made against one or more joint taxpayers/
ratepayers in respect of an amount for which they are jointly and severally
liable. The recovery procedures may be applied to one or more than one of
the joint taxpayers/ ratepayers.
5.4.2 A notice will be sent to taxpayers/ ratepayers when a Liability Order is
granted by the Magistrates Court. This notice includes a statutory request for
information regarding the tax or rate payer’s financial circumstances and
employment details.

5.5 Requests for Information
5.5.1 The Council may request certain relevant information from a debtor, in
relation to his or her employment, particularly the name and address of any
employer and level of earnings and deductions. Taxpayers and ratepayers
are under a legal obligation to provide this information.
5.6 Attachment of Earnings

Page 15

5.6.1 Where the Council is aware of a Council Taxpayer’s employment details
they will, in most cases, issue an order to the taxpayer’s employers to make
deductions from their earnings. Employers are legally required to comply with
the order and may deduct a nominal charge which is defined in law for each
deduction made towards the costs of administering the order.
5.6.2 The amount being received under the order will be reviewed on a
regular basis and where it is felt that this is insufficient to clear the debt
outstanding within a reasonable time, the Council may either request a further
attachment to earnings order to be made (maximum of 2) or cancel the
attachment and take alternative action to recover the amount due.
5.6.3 In cases where a taxpayer will suffer hardship because of an attachment
order, the circumstances of individual cases will be considered with a view to
taking alternative action. This will usually be an arrangement to pay a lower
amount than that prescribed under an attachment order which is acceptable to
the Council.
An attachment to earnings will only be cancelled in exceptional circumstances
where suitable alternative action can be agreed.
5.7 Deductions from State Benefits
5.7.1 In Council Tax cases, the Council may apply to the Department for Work
and Pension (DWP) for deductions to be made from State Benefits. The
DWP regulations specify the fixed weekly amount deductible.
5.8 Bailiff Action
5.8.1 Following the granting of a Liability Order, where a taxpayer or
ratepayers fails to make contact with the Council or fails to make or maintain a
payment arrangement (including orders under attachments to earnings or
deductions from benefit) the Council may issue instructions for a Bailiff to visit
the property.
5.8.2 At all times the Bailiff will work to an agreed Bailiffs Code of Conduct
(Appendix 2), Council Guidelines and the Council’s Vulnerability Criteria
(Appendix 1).
5.8.3 Fees and charges associated with bailiff action will be charged in
accordance with levels set out in the legislation. All charges associated with recovery will be
kept regularly under review to ensure they are reasonable.
5.8.4 The Bailiff may make an acceptable arrangement with the debtor to
repay the sums due or levy distress on goods owned by the debtor to satisfy
the amount outstanding. Levying distress on goods is where the bailiff
secures the debt against assets owned by the taxpayer or ratepayer.
5.8.5 Actual removal and sale of goods will only take place in exceptional
circumstances following approval from a Council Officer. All efforts will be taken in order to
make an arrangement to pay including the obtaining of

Page 16

employment or benefit information that may lead to an order being made
under an attachment to earnings or deduction from benefit.
6.0 Further recovery options available to the Council
6.1 Where the forms of action detailed in Section 5 of this policy have either
been unsuccessful, are not considered to be appropriate, or the taxpayer or
ratepayer has failed to make contact with the Council, the Council may pursue
other recovery options that may have more serious implications for the
taxpayer and ratepayer.
6.2 These actions are:





Committal Proceedings
Charging Orders
Bankruptcy
Winding Up Procedures

6.3 Any action to recover amounts by these methods will be considered on its
merits on an individual case by case basis, having regard to the ‘Recovery
Checklist’ completed by the Council’s Recovery Officers. This will include the
following;




A record why other methods of recovery are not appropriate, and:
Where little or no personal contact has been made details of at least one visit to the
property, and:
A record of information gathered and the reasons for the proposed action.

6.4 In addition, the Council will have regard to the Vulnerability Criteria in
Appendix 1 to assist in making decisions at all stages of recovery and in
particular where an option referred to in Section 6.2 of this policy is being
considered such as bankruptcy.
6.5 Documentation issued to ratepayers will include:




Clear written warnings listing the consequences of failing to respond to the letter or
notice,
A date by which they must respond, and;
Recommendations that tax/ratepayers suffering financial difficulty contact their local
Citizens Advice, Business Support Agency or Debt Advice Agency for debt advice.

6.6 Committal Proceedings (Former)
6.6.1 Committal proceedings have recently been removed as a method of recovery for nonpayment.

Page 17

6.7 Charging Orders
6.7.1 Non payment of Council Tax
6.7.2 The Council may make an application to the County Court for a charging
order to be registered against a taxpayers’ property, where the amount of
council tax outstanding is over £1,000. The costs associated with this type of
action are high, and may be added to the amount of the order.
6.7.3 Following the granting of a charging order, if the debt is not paid the
Council may apply to the County Court for an order for sale, which may result
in the property being sold and the amount subject to the charging order,
including costs, being paid from the proceeds of sale.
6.7.4 Non Payment of Business Rates
6.7.5 The Charging order option is not available under the 1989 Regulations
in respect of business rates. However if a ratepayer(s) owns their business
premises and are intending to sell the property, the Council may seek their
agreement to registering a charge against their interest in the property. This
means that they agree that the Council will be paid any rates due from the
proceeds of the sale of the property. The Council will not attempt to recover
any amount due which is covered by the agreement for a specified period.
This period cannot be more than three years. Any amounts covered by the
agreement may be subject to interest charges.
6.8 Bankruptcy
6.8.1 This option is only available where the taxpayer or ratepayer is an
individual. This course of action is not only administratively costly for all
parties but can also have considerable impact both on the taxpayer and
members of the taxpayers’ household. Consequently, this will only be
considered where:






There has been repeated default in other types of recovery action.
Other forms of recovery action are not appropriate.
The taxpayer or ratepayer owns the property which is the subject of the Council Tax
or Business Rates or a second property and where the equity is likely (so far as the
Council can assess) to be sufficient to cover both the amount of the debt and the
costs of the bankruptcy and sale.
The debt outstanding is above £1000.

6.8.2 No bankruptcy proceedings will take place without attempting to contact
the taxpayer or representative.
6.8.3 A statutory demand will be served on the taxpayer setting out the debt
outstanding, and the options available to them to prevent further action, the
time scales in which they need to respond (21 days), and direct contact
details of officers dealing with the case. A guide to the potential bankruptcy
costs is included with the statutory demand. No additional costs are incurred

Page 18

at this stage, and the Council may agree a payment arrangement with the
taxpayer.
6.8.4 Where, after 21 days, the tax/ratepayer has not responded to the
statutory demand or the Council is unable to agree arrangements that will
discharge the debt, the Council will consider whether a petition for the
taxpayer to be made bankrupt should be issued.
6.8.5 Before a petition is issued, the Council will make all reasonable attempts
to find out what the tax/ratepayer’s personal and financial circumstances are
to determine whether they or other members of the household may fall within
the Council’s Vulnerability Criteria as described in Appendix 1.
6.8.6 Where, from information provided by the tax/ratepayer or their
representative, or other sources there is evidence to suggest that the taxpayer
or other members of the household fall within the Council’s Vulnerability
Criteria the case will be reviewed by a Senior Officer to confirm that
bankruptcy is appropriate.
6.8.7 Where the Council considers that bankruptcy action should continue, a
petition will be served on the tax/ratepayer, advising them of the date and time
of the bankruptcy hearing. The serving of a bankruptcy petition will result in
significant costs being incurred.
6.8.8 It is essential that the taxpayer or ratepayer attends this or any
adjourned hearing to make representation to the judge as to why the order
should not be made. Where the taxpayer or ratepayer fails to attend, the
Court will determine whether the issue of a bankruptcy petition should be
made. Once the order has been made the matter will be referred to the
Official Receiver for Trustees to be appointed.
6.9 Winding Up Procedures
6.9.1 Where the ratepayer is a limited company the same criteria as for
determining whether bankruptcy action is appropriate will be undertaken.
6.9.2 In appropriate cases, a formal request for payment will be sent to the
ratepayer advising them of the impending action and the consequences of this
action being successful.
6.9.3 No additional costs are incurred at this stage, and the Council may
agree a payment arrangement with the ratepayer.
6.9.4 Where, after 14 days, the ratepayer has not responded to the formal
request or the Council is unable to agree arrangements that will discharge the
debt, the Council will consider whether a petition for the winding up of the
company should be issued.
6.9.5 Where a petition is served on the ratepayer this will notify them of a date
and time of the hearing in the High Court. The serving of a petition will result

Page 19

in significant costs being incurred.
6.9.6 It is essential that the ratepayer attends this hearing or any adjourned
hearing to make representation to the judge as to why the winding up order
should not be made.
6.9.7 Where the ratepayer fails to attend this will generally result in the
company being wound up.
6.9.8 Once the company has been wound up the matter will be referred to the
Official Receiver for a Liquidator to be appointed.
7.0 Absconders
7.1 Where a taxpayer or ratepayer leaves a property without notifying the
Council of their forwarding address the Council will make every effort to trace
their current whereabouts and to collect the amount outstanding.
7.2 This will include, where permitted by law, the sharing of information
between other Council departments and using external tracing agencies.
8.0 Working with others
8.1 We will endeavour to consult and engage with stakeholders in order to identify
customers who may be entitled to an exemption, discount, disregard, benefit or relief,
thereby, contributing to residents’ prosperity, health and wellbeing.
8.2 The Revenues Service will endeavour to develop liaison arrangements with the
following agencies when reviewing its’ procedures in order to improve the Council’s service:
Citizens Advice Bureaux, Local Advice Centres, Social Services, Registered Social
Landlords.

Vulnerability Criteria.

The Council recognises that some taxpayers and ratepayers will, due to their
individual personal and financial circumstances, have extreme difficulty in
paying their Council Tax and Business Rates, and punitive recovery action may not be
appropriate where these suggest the taxpayer, ratepayer or other household
members may be vulnerable in some way.
The Council will ensure processes are in place to ensure that due regard is
given to this group of taxpayers’ and ratepayers.
A person may be considered vulnerable in the following circumstances. The
list is not exhaustive and each case will be decided on its own merits:



The person is elderly
The person is seriously ill or mentally or physically disabled

Page 20






The person has communication or learning difficulties
The person has young children and where there is severe deprivation
The person has recently been bereaved or made unemployed
The person has difficulty in understanding written or spoken English.

Falling into one of these categories does not automatically mean that recovery
action is not appropriate. The Council will make individual decisions based
upon the individual circumstances of the taxpayer or ratepayer to identify if
recovery action is appropriate and, if so, what action to take.
Different recovery proceedings cannot be applied simultaneously to one
customer, but can be applied subsequently if a debt remains outstanding. The
choice of recovery action is made at the discretion of the Council’s Recovery
Officers and will take into account the taxpayers and ratepayers circumstances on a case
by case basis and the guidance within this Policy.
The Revenues Service may become aware of vulnerable ratepayers and
taxpayers following contact from the taxpayer, ratepayer or their
representative or once recovery action is instigated. Alternatively, this
information may become available from other internal systems used by the
Council, from other service lines or from other support agencies.
Where the bailiff on visiting the taxpayer or ratepayer has vulnerability
concerns, he is required to return the Liability Order instruction to the Council
in order for the Council to decide upon the most appropriate recovery action.

Page 21

Appendix 2

Internal Bailiff - Code of Conduct
1.
2.
3.
4.
5.
6.
7.
8.
9.
10.
11.
12.
13.
14.
15.
16.
17.
18.
19.
20.
21.
22.
23.
24.

25.

The Bailiff will either write to you or visit within 5 working days of the debt being
referred to him/her.
The bailiff will visit you to enforce liability orders or to seize your goods at any time
between 7.00am and 9.00pm unless your circumstances are exceptional.
The bailiff will collect the debt within three months of the debt being referred unless
they have agreed a longer repayment period.
Any bailiff who seizes goods must be approved by the County Court.
If a bailiff seizes goods, he or she must introduce themselves with identification, which
will include a photograph and also give reasons for his or her visit.
The bailiff should dress smartly and be polite in all circumstances.
The bailiff must carry written authority from us and show it to you if you ask.
Bailiffs should give you the chance to:
i) Question the amount you owe.
ii) Provide evidence of any payment we have not taken into account; and;
iii) Make payment in full, and the bailiff should explain that this payment will
stop further proceedings.
The bailiff must not enter your home if there is no person over the age of 18 there.
The bailiff must not threaten you with other ways of enforcing the liability order but may
advise you that imprisonment may be an action the Council could take.
If you or your partner are not in when the bailiff visits, the bailiff may not discuss the
visit with any other person.
If a bailiff wants to get information about where you are, he or she should do so
discreetly without giving the reason for their visit.
If you pay the bailiff in full, he or she must tell us and take no further action until we
give them further instructions.
The bailiff should wait to receive instruction from us before going ahead where there is
evidence of vulnerability. (See vulnerability policy).
If your second language is English and is limited, you should ask someone you know
to interpret.
Bailiffs should advise you of the complaints and appeals procedures if you ask for this
information.
Bailiffs should make sure they do everything possible to contact you personally.
If we find out that you are receiving an attachable benefit, we may, if appropriate, stop
action against you and issue an Attachment of Benefit Order.
Bailiffs should know about the rules of entering your home.
If a bailiff comes to seize your goods, he or she must clearly tell you what they cannot
take legally.
If a ‘walking possession’ has been entered into, the bailiff will give you a list of the
goods they can take. This means you can keep the listed goods at your home while
you pay off the debt, but they will be sold if you do not.
If a bailiff removes your goods, he or she must make sure your goods are handled with
care and attention and kept safe.

Page 22

26. The bailiff must make sure that the goods are insured and safely stored before they
are sold.
27. If you make a complaint about the bailiff, the Authority will investigate the complaint
and provide a full written response in accordance with the Authorities complaints
procedures.
28. The bailiff must provide you with a full breakdown of costs if requested.

Vulnerable situations
Enforcement officer must withdraw if the only person on domestic premises is or appears to
be under 18, but can enquire when the debtor will return. If person appears to be under 12
then the enforcement officer shall withdraw without making any enquiries.
Wherever possible, enforcement agents should have arrangements in place for rapidly
accessing translation services when these are needed, and provide on request information
in large print or in Braille for debtors with impaired sight
If a debtor appears to be potentially vulnerable then the enforcement officer shall use his
discretion as to whether enforcement action is immediately appropriate and refer to his
supervisor/manager.
Those who might be potentially vulnerable include;
Elderly persons
Physically or mentally disabled persons
Persons suffering from a serious or long term illness
Recently bereaved persons
Removal of goods should be approved by the bailiff’s line manager.
Persons who have problems understanding, speaking or reading English
Businesses where the removal of goods might make a significant number of people
unemployed or where the loss of a vital service to the area might be incurred

Page 23

Appendix 3

Council Tax
Discretionary Relief Policy

Version: 2.0 (April 2018)

Page 24

Contents

1) Introduction..................................................................................3
2) Legislative Powers.......................................................................3
3) Statement of Objectives...............................................................3
4) Care Leavers Class………………………………………………….3
5) Claiming Discretionary Relief.......................................................4
6) Decision Making...........................................................................8
7) Notification of decision.................................................................9
8) Review of Decision.......................................................................9
9) Fraudulent Claims and Overpayments........................................10

Page 25

1)

Introduction
This discretionary relief policy has been created by the Council to assist all
persons liable for Council Tax who may be experiencing financial hardship or
distress. This policy is also intended to provide further financial assistance
where an applicant is in receipt of a Council Tax Reduction award, where it
does not meet their full Council Tax liability.
The discretionary relief policy will be administered by Merthyr Tydfil County
Borough Council and will be made available to any council tax payer specified
in Sections 4 and 5 of this policy. The purpose of this discretionary relief policy
is to provide temporary assistance to Council Tax payers to help reduce their
Council Tax liability. The operation of the policy is at the discretion of the
Council.

2)

Legislative Powers
Section 13A(1)(c) of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 (as inserted by
Section 76 of the Local Government Act 2003), provides the Council with the
discretion to reduce liability for council tax in relation to individual cases or
class(es) of cases that it may determine and where national discounts and
exemptions cannot be applied.
A summary of Section 13A(1)(c) is set out below :
 Where a person is liable to pay council tax in respect of any chargeable
dwelling, the Council for the area in which the dwelling is situated may
reduce the amount to such extent as it thinks appropriate.
 The power under subsection 1) includes the power to reduce an amount
to nil.
 The power under subsection 1) may be exercised in relation to particular
cases or by determining a class of case in which liability is to be reduced
to an extent provided by the determination.

Page 26

There are financial implications to awarding any discretionary reliefs other
than those currently available under the statutory legislation and the
financial burden of Section 13A discretionary relief is borne directly by the
Council as a loss of council tax revenue.
3)

Statement of Objectives
The purpose of this policy is to specify how the Council will operate this
discretionary power and to set out the factors that will be considered when
making a decision on whether to award council tax discretionary relief (or
not).
Principally, the objective of council tax discretionary relief is to offer short
term financial assistance to council tax payers who are experiencing
exceptional circumstances. Each application for discretionary relief will be
treated strictly on its own merits and all council tax payers will be treated
fairly and equally. The Council will seek through the operation of this policy
to:









Alleviate social injustice
Prevent homelessness
Keep families together
Support the vulnerable in their homes in the community
Support those applicants who are unable to work due to a disability,
who have been assessed as such by the Department for Work and
Pensions
Help customers through personal crises and difficult events
Provide advice on long term possible solutions to meet their housing
costs
Improve financial capability by referral to an independent advisor e.g.
Money Advice Service.

The list is not exhaustive and we will consider all factors or exceptional
circumstances that may apply.
Council Tax discretionary relief through this policy is intended as a short
term emergency measure and is not intended to cover the shortfall between
Council Tax and entitlement to Council Tax Reduction Scheme support or
any other reduction on a long term basis.

Page 27

4)

Care Leavers’ Class
Care leavers are specified as a class of cases in which liability can be
reduced to nil. Cases falling within this class will be awarded discretionary
relief automatically and no written application will be required.
For the purposes of this policy, care leavers will be defined as residents for
whom Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council (or another local authority),
held corporate parenting responsibility at the point at which the young person
left care. Corporate parenting is a statutory function of the council and in
Wales, Councils retain corporate parenting responsibilities for young people
who left care up to the age of 21 or up to the age of 25 if they are pursuing
education or training.
The principles of awarding discretionary relief to care leavers are as follows:
 The young person is a ‘care leaver’ and is between the ages of 18 and
25 and is not exempt from Council Tax liability on any other basis.
 Where a Merthyr Tydfil CBC ‘care leaver;’ moves out of the Councils
area, the discretionary relief will be apportioned to the date that they
move.
The Care Leavers Class will operate as follows:
 The young person is a ‘care leaver’ and is between the ages of 18 and
25 and is not exempt on any other basis.
 The discretionary relief will apply to residents for whom Merthyr Tydfil
CBC or another local authority, held parenting responsibility at the point
at which the young person left care.
 The care leaver resides and is liable, or jointly liable, to pay Council tax
within Merthyr Tydfil County Borough.
 The level of reduction applied will be 100% of residual Council Tax
liability, after taking into account any other discounts, disregards,
exemptions or Council Tax Reduction (CTR) to which the care leaver
may be entitled.
 The relief will be awarded against any Council tax liability arising from 1st
April 2018 and the Council will have discretion to backdate future
awards to the 1st April 2018 but no earlier.
 The relief will not be means-tested if the care leaver is between the ages
of 18 and 25.
 The date of the day before the care leavers 25th birthday determines the
last day of the period of the discretionary relief.

Page 28

5) Claiming Discretionary Relief
With the exception of the Care Leavers’ specified class where no application is
needed, the Council will treat all applications on their individual merits. Council
will only consider using its powers to reduce council tax liability for a council
tax payer or class of payer in exceptional circumstances, because the full cost
of awarding relief has to be borne by the Council.
Examples of circumstances where a council tax payer may experience
financial hardship can include, but is not limited to the following:





A sudden change in circumstances, such as loss of employment
A reduction in income due to illness suffered by the liable person
Loss of income incurred by the liable person to enable them to
care for a dependant
Sudden increase in other expenses, for example, due to a family
member’s illness or incapacity.

General hardship can also be incurred from living on a very low income. It is
difficult to determine when a person on a low income will qualify for additional
support through this policy. However, the following are factors that the Council
may take into account:






Inability to make payments for basic utilities such as water, electricity
and heating
Court proceedings for outstanding debts
Consistently exceeding overdraft limits without evidence of spending
on anything other than necessities such as utilities, food and
accommodation
The threat of homelessness
Inability to pay for food.

Who can apply?
Those persons liable to pay Council Tax to Merthyr Tydfil County Borough
Council who can apply are:


Owner occupiers
Tenants

Page 29





Liable residents (but not formally a ‘tenant’)
Persons acting on behalf of a liable person i.e. an appointee, solicitor
or someone with power of attorney.
Where a care leaver is between the ages of 18 and 25 and resides in
a household but is not liable for council tax purposes, the council tax
liable person(s) will be able to apply for discretionary relief if the
presence of the care leaver results in an increase in the council tax
payable. The relief will be equivalent to the amount by which the council
tax has increased.

Who cannot apply?
Any person not liable to pay Council to Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council,
but also specifically:








Landlords of properties where the tenant is liable
Landlords, if liable
Estate agents/managing agents on behalf of a landlord
Friends/relatives of the liable person (unless acting as an appointee or
under a power of attorney)
Lodgers or other residents who are not liable to pay Council Tax
Support agencies (unless acting as an appointee or under a power of
attorney)
Banks or other holders of a mortgage or other legal charge on a
property
Owners of empty properties.

The Council will treat all applications on their individual merits, however some
or all of the following criteria must be met for each case:








There must be evidence of financial hardship or personal
circumstances that justifies a reduction in council tax liability
The applicant must satisfy the Council that all reasonable steps have
been taken to resolve the situation prior to application
The applicant has applied for council tax support (the Welsh
Government’s national Council Tax Reduction Scheme exists to ensure
that those on low incomes receive financial assistance with their
council tax)
All other appropriate council tax discounts/reliefs have already been
awarded

Page 30






The applicant does not have access to other assets that could be used
to pay council tax
All other legitimate means of resolving the situation have been
investigated and exhausted by the applicant.
The situation and reason for the application must be outside of the
applicant’s control
The amount outstanding must not be the result of deliberate nonpayment or failure to make payments as required through neglect.

Requests for reductions in council tax liability will be required in writing from
the council tax payer or a recognised third party appointed to act on their
behalf.
The application should relate to the current council tax year, unless the
applicant has received a bill following a delayed council tax valuation for a
previous year(s) or a late determination as to liability to the council tax
(provided the late determination is not the fault of the applicant).
The Council reserves the right to request any additional evidence in support of
the discretionary relief application, and will act consistently and reasonably in
doing so. Where the applicant is unable to, or does not supply the required
evidence, the Council will still consider the application and will take into
account any other evidence available, including documentation held on the
housing benefit/council tax reduction case file.
The Council will consider the household’s overall financial capability when
determining an award for discretionary relief.
6)

Decision Making
Whilst the discretionary relief policy is by definition ‘discretionary’, the Council
has a duty to make decisions in accordance with recognised principles about
good decision-making, i.e. administrative law, and in particular, to act fairly,
reasonably and consistently.
The Revenues and Benefits Manager will determine all Section 13A
applications in consultation with the Chief Finance Officer and the decision will
then be referred to the Director of Customer Services for authorisation.
In deciding whether to award discretionary relief, the Council will take into
account the following:


The shortfall between income and expenditure

Page 31













Any steps taken by the applicant to reduce their rental or council tax
liability
The household, financial and medical circumstances of the applicant,
their partner and any other persons in the household
Any savings or capital held by the applicant’s household
The applicant’s level of debt
Any special reasons which make it necessary or particularly desirable
for the applicant(s) to occupy the dwelling in respect of which the
liability arises
The possible consequences of council tax arrears for the applicant or
family members, especially if any of them are vulnerable by reason of
age, sickness or disability
Whether the applicant can change their spending pattern on nonessential items
The possible impact of not making a payment i.e. the pressure on
priority homeless accommodation
The actions being taken by the applicant to improve or change their
domestic, financial or personal situation to reduce or limit the amount of
support that they will require in the future i.e. helping those that are
trying to help themselves
Any other special circumstances brought to the attention of the Council.

Any successful application will be granted for the remainder of the financial
year in which the application is made, but will cease at the end of that financial
year and a re-application will be required for consideration of any ongoing
assistance.
Awards will generally be made from the date that the Council received the
application form, but the Council may backdate awards under this policy, if it is
considered reasonable.
7)

Notification of Decision
The Council will notify an applicant in writing within 14 days of receiving
sufficient information to make a decision or within a reasonable period
afterwards.
Where an application for discretionary relief is successful the applicant (and
any other affected party) will receive notification of:



The amount of the award
The circumstances of the award, any steps that the applicant should

Page 32






8)

take and any conditionality attached to the award
The start and end date of the award
Their duty to report any change of circumstances that may affect the
award
The recoverability of any award
The procedure to follow should the applicant disagree with the decision.

Review of Decision
Under the Local Government Finance Act 1992, there is no right of appeal
against the Council's use of discretionary powers. However, the Council will
accept an applicant’s written request for a further review of its decision, if it is
made within one month of the date of notification of the decision.
The request for review will be considered by a person other than the person
who made the original decision. He/she will consider whether the applicant
has provided any additional information against the required criteria that will
justify a change to the original decision.
If the review concludes not to revise the original decision, this decision is final
and may only be challenged by way of an appeal to the Valuation Tribunal for
Wales, judicial review or by a complaint to the Local Government
Ombudsman, (where there is an allegation of maladministration).

9)

Fraudulent Claims and Overpayments
The Council reserves the right to recover any overpayment of discretionary
relief where the award was made as a result of misrepresentation or failure to
disclose a material fact, fraudulently (or otherwise), or due to an administrative
error by the Council (where it is reasonable to assume that the taxpayer would
have been aware).
The Council is committed to tackling fraud and abuse of public funds in all
forms. Where there is suspicion that a fraud may have occurred, the matter
will be investigated and this may lead to criminal proceedings being initiated.
The Council will consider prosecuting any applicant who makes a false
statement or provides fraudulent evidence in support of an application.
An application for a discretionary relief will not be considered to offset any
council taxes that have become payable as a result of the taxpayer being
prosecuted and convicted for Housing & Council Tax Benefit/Council Tax

Page 33

Reduction Scheme fraud, or in cases where an Administrative Penalty or a
sanction has been given in the last 6 years.

Page 34

Agenda Item 4
Civic Centre, Castle Street,
Merthyr Tydfil CF47 8AN
Main Tel: 01685 725000

www.merthyr.gov.uk

SCRUTINY REPORT
Date Written
Report Author
Committee Division
Exempt/Non Exempt
Committee Date

6th July 2021
Scrutiny Section
Scrutiny
Non Exempt
20th July 2021

To: Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen

Forward Work Programme 2021/2022
1.0

PURPOSE OF THE REPORT

1.1

To provide the Scrutiny Committee with its work programme for consideration and to
prepare in advance of the next scrutiny committee meeting.

1.2

To remind Scrutiny Committee members that they need to consider the requirements
of the Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 in all aspects of scrutiny
work.

2.0

RECOMMENDATION(S)

2.1

The Committee considers the attached Draft Forward Work Programme and
approves, revises or amends it as deemed appropriate; and to consider the
questions at 3.7 in planning for the next meeting.

3.0

INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

3.1

The attached forward work programme identifies the topics and issues under
consideration by the Scrutiny Committee and allows an opportunity for additional
subjects to be identified and included on the programme.

3.2

Scrutiny committees are required to prepare and keep under review a programme for
their future work. By reviewing and prioritising issues, members are able to ensure
that the work programme delivers a member-led agenda.

3.3

The Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 requires each Public Service
Board (PSB) and Council to work with their communities to develop local objectives.
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council (MTCBC) and the Cwm Taf PSB have acted
on this.

Page 35

3.4

MTCBC has four local Wellbeing Objectives, each having clear outcomes that will
help the Council to respond to local community needs and contribute to the seven
national wellbeing goals. The four Wellbeing Objectives are:BS Best Start to Life - Children and young people get the best start to life and are
equipped with the skills they need to be successful learners and confident
individuals.
The key outcomes for Best Start to Life are:





Children live in a nurturing and stimulating home environment
Children have access to high quality pre-school and school education
Improve the educational outcomes for all children and young people
Children and young people have good health and wellbeing

WL Working Life - People feel supported to develop the skills required to meet the
needs of businesses, with a developing, safe infrastructure which makes Merthyr
Tydfil as an attractive destination.
The key outcomes for Working Life are:




Merthyr Tydfil realises its full economic potential, with a skilled workforce and
better employment opportunities;
People value and enjoy the built and natural environment, protecting and
enhancing our cultural assets for current and future generations;
We have strong, resilient and supportive communities where people take
responsibility for their own actions and how they affect others.

EW Environmental Wellbeing - Communities protect, enhance and promote our
environment and countryside.
The key outcomes for Environmental Wellbeing are:



Environmental damage is minimised by preventing pollution
To maximise the amount of materials and resources recycled in line with the
waste hierarchy;
 Merthyr Tydfil has good quality, biodiverse and connected green infrastructure
and open spaces; and
 The use of renewable and low carbon energy is increased.
LW Living Well - People are empowered to live independently within their
communities, where they are safe and enjoy good physical and mental health.
The key outcomes for Living Well are:




People live safe and independent lives within their communities
Children and adults are safeguarded from harm and feel safe
Children and young people live safely with their family or close to home and
have transitioned well into adulthood.

Page 36

3.5

The Scrutiny Committee is encouraged to identify issues that reflect these priorities
that are within your remit and/or are a priority for local people and communities. If a
matter is a recurring issue for the people you, as Councillors, represent, the
likelihood is that it is something that the Committee should consider. The more
relevant the issue is to local communities then the greater the likelihood of engaging
those communities in the scrutiny process and of producing outcomes that will be
visible to those communities you represent.

3.6

MTCBC has developed an ‘Our Shared Vision’ document (Appendix I). This makes
the connections from the seven national Wellbeing Goals through to the local
objectives and political priorities. This document is contained within one page and
acts as an easy to understand guide. When considered with service area strategies
and operational plans a thread is created that can be extended down to individual
tasks. This helps staff members see how they are contributing to the Act and the
‘Wales We Want’, and will assist Scrutiny members better understand the
connections with the Act.

3.7

The work programme is a dynamic document and is reviewed at every meeting of
the Committee to ensure that its contents are still relevant and will add value to what
the Council and partners are doing. At each meeting the committee will agree the
agenda items for their next meeting and in preparation may in advance wish to ask
itself the following questions.
Q)

Why has the item been placed on a Scrutiny Work Programme?
a. Does this item/ topic contribute to the delivery of the Council’s wellbeing
objectives?
b. Does this item/ topic contribute to the delivery of the Council’s corporate
priorities/ objectives?
c. Is this item/ topic relating to service performance concerns?
d. Is this item/ topic of significant public interest?
e. Does the item/ topic have any budgetary implications?
f. Is this an item/ topic where Scrutiny involvement will make a significant
difference and achieve tangible outcomes?
g. Can effective Scrutiny of this issue be delivered from within available
resources?

Q)

What is the specific role of the Committee?
This will depend on the item – for example the role could be:
a. to determine if performance levels are acceptable in relation to a particular
department;
b. to determine if a specific policy is fit for purpose;
c. to satisfy itself that the Authority is working well with its partners in tackling a
major issue;
d. to gather the views of specific stakeholders as part of an on-going scrutiny
investigation/ review;
e. to explore possible solutions to an issue.

Page 37

Q)

What outcome is the Committee seeking from the consideration of this
item?
a. To comment on the proposed budget and make suggestions to cabinet
regarding the proposed budget’s ability to deliver the priorities of the council
b. Identification of any causes for concern and note successes.
c. To receive an overview presentation.
d. To gain an understanding of and to comment on a policy/ strategy
e. To explore ideas around the setting of budgets while considering the
pressures facing each service. This also helps provide an overview of the
policy frame work.
f. For the scrutiny committee to gain an overview and refresh their knowledge of
the wellbeing objectives/ other plan/ other strategy.
g. Improvement in service delivery

Q)

What information does the Committee need to fulfil this role/ achieve
this outcome?
What is the Committee trying to do? You might be trying to do some or all of
the following i.e. establish facts; gather opinions; or explore new ideas/
solutions.

Q)

Who should be invited to the meeting to provide the information?
Depending on the information you need you might want to hear from a range
of witnesses – e.g. Cabinet members, Senior Officers, Service users, and
External partners – e.g. Police, Strategic Partners etc

Q)

Does the Committee need to ask for written representations?
The Committee may wish to pose some questions to the Directorate/ Cabinet
Member/ External Partner etc. prior to the meeting. This may help in instances
when the Committee is looking for something specific to be addressed. This
will assist whoever is attending to ensure that they have the information/
answer ready for the meeting.

Q)

Which meeting format/ venue would be most appropriate for the item
and for the witnesses that will be invited to attend?
Due to the outbreak of the Covid-19 global pandemic, all scrutiny committees
are to be held via Microsoft Teams at least for the time-being. This decision
has been taken to ensure the safety of our members, officers and all others in
attendance. Currently, there is no clear indication of when hybrid meetings will
be appropriate; and this will be reviewed in line with any updates and advice
from U.K. and Welsh Government.
Even under normal circumstances, meetings do not have to be held in a
formal committee room environment. You may wish to hold occasional
meetings in community location settings e.g. community centres, sports
facilities etc. It depends on the subject. Some people find the formal setting
intimidating. Site visits for example may be more appropriate to see first-hand
what the committee is investigating/ obtaining information on e.g. waste sites,
regeneration projects etc.

Page 38

Q)

Method of Scrutiny?
Once Members have identified the matters they wish to scrutinise,
consideration should be given to scoping the subject in more detail including
the timing and method of scrutiny to be used. Support in this process will be
given by the Scrutiny and Support Manager and Officer. Members may wish
to:
a. Consider an item at a single meeting;
b. Consider an item over a series of meetings;
c. Allocate the work to a small working group of Members (Task & Finish group)
to investigate the issue over a period of 2-3 months (this may involve visits to
see how services are working in practice);
d. Undertake an Inquiry Day (or days);
e. Undertake joint scrutiny with members of another Scrutiny Committee;
f. Invite expert witnesses to give their views;
g. Seeking the views of service users/ carers and/ or the general public (public
calls for evidence)

Performance and Scrutiny Department
MTCBC

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s)

Statement of Wellbeing
& Focus on the Future:
Wellbeing in our
Community

Document(s) Date

4th April 2018

Document Location

MTCBC Website
Full Council 4th April 2018

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s
Constitution?

Page 39

No

APPENDIX I

Page 40

Transformation, Commercialisation and Corporate Centre Scrutiny Committee
Work Programme Descriptors 2021/22
(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change)

Date /
Timing

Overarching Item
Draft Committee Work
Programme 2021-2022

Cabinet Member & Officer(s)



Committee Chair
Committee Members

15 June
2021

Agile Working:
Re-Opening of the OneStop Shop





Portfolio member
Committee Chair
Head of Customer
Services

Scrutiny Focus
The Committee to discuss the draft Work Programme and
to officially agree and sign off the Work Programme for
2020-2021

Provide Critical Friend Challenge to Executive Policy and
Decision-Makers – The Committee Chair proposed this
agenda item. There are a number of elements to agenda
item:

Page 41

1. Committee Members are keen to fulfil the role of
critical friend to key decision-makers at the planning
stage of this policy; and to secure a wider overview of
the impact the pandemic has had on the way we
work;
15 June
2021

Cross-Cutting Strategies and
Plans
Focus on the Future:
wellbeing in our community
Recovery, Transformation
and Improvement Plan
(Governance)
Focus on the Future:
wellbeing in our community
Recovery, Transformation
and Improvement Plan
Local Government &
Elections (Wales) Act 2021

2. Members of the public have brought the re-opening
of the One Stop Shop to the attention of the
Committee; discussions around the issue now need to
begin to respond to this;
3. Possible changes required in Committee’s role arising
from the implementation of the Local Government &
Elections Act 2021. (e.g.) the need to ensure
effective/proactive policy review using scrutiny
function.
The Chair wishes to discuss the potential for a Task &
Finish group to be established in relation to this topic.

As per Audit Wales, scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area and the outcome
desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements.

Task and Finish Group
Report: Local Authority
Support of Third Sector
Services
20 July
2021





Portfolio member
Committee Chair
Interim Deputy Chief
Executive

Deferred to September
meeting

Tackling Poverty

Driving Service Improvement in Public Services – A Wales
Audit Office report (now Audit Wales) highlighting areas
where local authority support to third sector organisations
could be improved was referred to the Governance
scrutiny Committee in 2018.
A task and finish group was established to review the
issues outlined in this report. Led by the Chair of
Governance scrutiny committee; activity took place and a
report has been produced and presented to Committee
Members for review and discussion, enabling next steps
to be identified and confirmed.





Page 42

Portfolio member
Head of Corporate
Services
Head of Revenues and
Benefits

Scrutiny and Challenge – Prior to the pandemic, this item
was proposed for review by Committee Members, and
was further identified through discussion with Citizens
Advice Bureau, and linked to existing issues around debt
management.

Focus on the Future:
wellbeing in our community
Recovery Transformation
and Improvement Plan
(Links to Governance
Improvement and
Commercialisation themes)

Focus on the Future:
wellbeing in our community
Recovery, Transformation
and Improvement Plan

The Committee requests a report on the Council’s
response to tackling poverty and, more specifically,
requests an update on how the Council supports people in
relation to this issue.

20 July
2021

Committee Members are keen to review the Council’s
debt collection process, specifically around the collection
of Council Tax and Business Rates arrears and gauge its
impact on citizens.
Welsh Public Library
Standards

14 Sept
2021




Portfolio member
Head of Merthyr Tydfil
Library Service

Scrutiny and Challenge - Public Library Services in Wales
are required to submit a report to Welsh Government
regarding the performance against the Welsh Public
Library Standards. The Welsh Public Library Standards are
the measure by which the Minister with responsibility for
Libraries can make a decision about their compliance with
the statutory Libraries and Museums Act 1964.

Focus on the Future:
wellbeing in our community

The Council are required to review the completed
assessment forms prior to their submission to Welsh
Government for assessment.
As per Audit Wales, scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area and the outcome
desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements.

Development of the next
Corporate Plan





Portfolio member
Committee Members
Corporate Management
Team Members

14 Sept
2021

Commercialisation





Portfolio member
Interim Deputy Chief
Executive
Procurement Manager

Page 43
19 Oct
2021

Healthy Organisations
19 Oct
2021





Portfolio member
Interim Chief Executive
Head of Human
Resources

Provide Critical Friend Challenge to Executive Policy and
Decision-Makers / Driving Service Improvement in Public
Services – The Council has entered the last year of its
current Corporate Wellbeing Plan (Focus on the Future:
wellbeing in our community); and must plan the process
for development of the next iteration. As previously
highlighted; Scrutiny Committee Members are key
stakeholders in this process.
The Chair wishes to open discussions around the
development process to secure clarity on the roles and
responsibilities Committee Members will have on
contributing to this work.
Scrutiny and Challenge – The Council’s Recovery
Transformation and Improvement Plan identifies that to
support the Council’s recovery, the organisation’s
commerciality must be explored and developed.
Committee Member have briefly discussed some
elements of this previously, and are keen to develop
further knowledge so they can actively support the
Council’s developing plans in relation to it.
The Committee request a report which demonstrates the
early stage plans on how the Council can address our
challenges in delivering outcomes from a commercial
perspective, and would be keen to learn more on how the
following areas of change are to be progressed:
 Commercial Environment – Create an organisational
environment that enables commercial activity; and
Investment Programme – Create a portfolio of investment
opportunities and review current contract to ensure value
for money. Linking in any outcomes or recommendations
on support to Third Sector Report earlier in year.
Scrutiny and Challenge – The Committee has previously
received reports from the Council’s Human Resources
Department. Committee Members wish to return to this
to identify the current status on topics previously (with
particular reference being made to the following areas:

Focus on the Future:
wellbeing in our community
Recovery Transformation
and Improvement Plan
(Links to Governance
Improvement theme)

Focus on the Future:
wellbeing in our community
Recovery Transformation
and Improvement Plan
(Links to Governance
Improvement and
Commercialisation themes)

Focus on the Future:
wellbeing in our community
Recovery, Transformation
and Improvement Plan

As per Audit Wales, scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area and the outcome
desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements.



Organisational
Development Manager

(1) The capability process; (2) a breakdown of SPODs; (3)
an update on work-based stress/the Council’s response to
this; and (4) an updated breakdown of the current
situation in relation to agency workers).

(Links to Healthy
Organisations theme)

In addition, the Healthy Organisations theme with the
Council’s Recovery Transformation and Improvement Plan
identifies three main challenges for the Council to become
a healthier organisation:




Page 44
Living Well Thematic
Report – Five Year
Review

30 Nov
2021




Portfolio member
Chief Officer – Social
Services

Moving from a traditional culture to one that fully
embraces a modern, agile operating model;
Aligning limited resources to deliver change at the
pace required; and
The identified need to develop the skills of the
workforce to meet current and future challenges; and
adopt new ways of working.

The Committee request an update on the response
activities developed and included within the Healthy
Organisations theme to be assured that responses to
these challenges have been developed and are specific,
measurable, achievable; realistic and can be delivered
within the timescales identified.
Scrutiny and Challenge - The Committee seeks a report
outlining progress made against the Living Well theme
across the lifetime of the current Corporate Wellbeing
Plan. The report will outline progress made against the
corporate objectives; and will identify challenges
faced/managed; along with opportunities identified and
actioned.
The report’s key focus will be on strategic overview and
contribution to future policies rather than offering a more
detailed outline of operational concerns (which would be
instead presented for the Governance and Audit
Committee). Outcomes from this committee should feed

Focus on the Future:
wellbeing in our community
Recovery, Transformation
and Improvement Plan
(Links to Living Well and Best
Start themes)
ACRF

As per Audit Wales, scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area and the outcome
desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements.

up to inform this agenda item to maximise output and
avoid duplication.
Governance Committee Members seek to identify how
the lessons learned throughout the delivery of Focus on
the Future: wellbeing in our community will inform the
development of the next iteration of the Corporate Plan.
Environmental Wellbeing 
Thematic Report – Five

Year Review

Portfolio member
Chief Officer – Social
Services

The report’s key focus will be on strategic overview and
contribution to future policies rather than offering a more
detailed outline of operational concerns (which would be
instead presented for the Governance and Audit
Committee). Outcomes from this committee should feed
up to inform this agenda item to maximise output and
avoid duplication.

30 Nov
2021

Page 45
Working Life Thematic
Report – Five Year
Review

11 Jan 2022

Scrutiny and Challenge - The Committee seeks a report
outlining progress made against the Environmental
Wellbeing theme across the lifetime of the current
Corporate Plan.




Portfolio Member
Chief Officer –
Community
Regeneration

Governance Committee Members seek to identify how
the lessons learned throughout the delivery of Focus on
the Future: wellbeing in our community will inform the
development of the next iteration of the Corporate Plan.
Scrutiny and Challenge - The Committee seeks a report
outlining progress made against the Working Life theme
across the lifetime of the current Corporate Plan.
The report’s key focus will be on strategic overview and
contribution to future policies rather than offering a more
detailed outline of operational concerns (which would be
instead presented for the Governance and Audit
Committee). Outcomes from this committee should feed
up to inform this agenda item to maximise output and
avoid duplication.

Focus on the Future:
wellbeing in our community
Recovery, Transformation
and Improvement Plan
(Links to the Environmental
Wellbeing theme)
Wales Towards Zero Waste

Focus on the Future:
wellbeing in our community
Recovery, Transformation
and Improvement Plan
(Links to the Working
Life/Economic Recovery
themes)
Economic Growth Strategy

Governance Committee Members seek to identify how
the lessons learned throughout the delivery of Focus on
As per Audit Wales, scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area and the outcome
desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements.

Best Start Thematic
Report – Five Year
Review




Portfolio Member
Chief Officer –
Community
Regeneration

The report’s key focus will be on strategic overview and
contribution to future policies rather than offering a more
detailed outline of operational concerns (which would be
instead presented for the Governance and Audit
Committee). Outcomes from this committee should feed
up to inform this agenda item to maximise output and
avoid duplication.

11 Jan 2022

Page 46
11 Jan 2022

the Future: wellbeing in our community will inform the
development of the next iteration of the Corporate Plan.
Scrutiny and Challenge - The Committee seeks a report
outlining progress made against the Best Start theme
across the lifetime of the current Corporate Plan.

Update on Development
of the next Corporate
Plan





Portfolio member
Committee Members
Corporate Management
Team Members??

Governance Committee Members seek to identify how
the lessons learned throughout the delivery of Focus on
the Future: wellbeing in our community will inform the
development of the next iteration of the Corporate Plan.
Provide Critical Friend Challenge to Executive Policy and
Decision-Makers / Driving Service Improvement in Public
Services – The planning process for the development of
the next iteration with Scrutiny Committee Members
fulfilling the role key stakeholders in this process.

Focus on the Future:
wellbeing in our community
Recovery, Transformation
and Improvement Plan
(Links to the Best Start,
Working Life and Living Well
Themes)
Raising Aspirations, Raising
Standards (RARS) Strategy

Focus on the Future:
wellbeing in our community
Recovery, Transformation
and Improvement Plan

A report is requested to provide an update to the
Committee on progress made to date; and to confirm next
steps.

As per Audit Wales, scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area and the outcome
desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements.

Review of the DRAFT
Corporate Plan for 20222026





Page 47

Topic
Equalities

Provide Critical Friend Challenge to Executive Policy and
Decision-Makers / Driving Service Improvement in Public
Services - The development of the next iteration of the
Council’s Corporate Plan is nearing conclusion.

Focus on the Future:
wellbeing in our community
Recovery, Transformation
and Improvement Plan

Prior to the final draft of the Plan being presented at Full
Council; Committee Members wish to review the draft
document to ensure all elements identified and agreed
during the development process have been completed;
that the lessons learned through the delivery of Focus on
the Future: wellbeing in our community have been
reflected; and that all regulatory requirements have been
met.

1 Mar 2022

1 Mar 2022
5 April 2022

Portfolio member
Committee Members
Corporate Management
Team Members??




Additional topics for consideration
Source of Suggestion
Member of the Public

Description
This suggestion came from a member of the public who is keen to understand what the
Council does in its day-to-day business around equalities and how the system
objectives are met (with realistic examples).

Scheduled

As per Audit Wales, scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area and the outcome
desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements.

Learning and LGES Scrutiny Committee
Work Programme Descriptors 2021/22
(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change)

Date / Timing

Overarching Item

Draft Annual Work
Programme 2020/21
7th June 2021

Page 48
12th July 2021

Linked to MTCBC’s
Wellbeing Objectives/
Cross Cutting Strategies
and Plans
BS Best Start to Life

Officer & Cabinet Member

(Other)
Scrutiny Focus

Councillor Harvey Jones and
Scrutiny Committee members

Scrutiny and Challenge: - To consider the draft
Annual Work programme for 2021/2022

Adult Community Learning
(ACL)

BS Best Start to Life
RARS Strategy

Lisa Mytton – Leader and
Portfolio Member; Sue Walker
– Chief Officer of Education

Scrutiny and Challenge: - Members to consider the
report for pre-decision prior to being presented to
Cabinet.

Update on Education Data
(Following the Workshop on
the 8th June 2021)

BS Best Start to Life
RARS Strategy
Corporate Wellbeing
Plan (FOTF)
RTI Plan

Lisa Mytton – Leader and
Portfolio Member; Sue Walker
– Chief Officer of Education

Scrutiny and Challenge: - Members to explore the
outcomes of the workshop and to confirm next steps
in relation to Key Performance Indicators (KPI’s) for
Education Services moving forward.

Early Years and Flying Start
Update

BS Best Start to Life
RARS Strategy
Corporate Wellbeing
Plan (FOTF)
RTI Plan

Lisa Mytton – Leader and
Portfolio Member; Sue Walker
– Chief Officer of Education;
Chris Hole – Head of
Community Wellbeing

Scrutiny and Challenge: To provide members with an
update on the work being undertaken by the Local
Authority in improving Early Years and Flying Start
Services.

Asset Management Plan

BS Best Start to Life
RARS Strategy
Corporate Wellbeing
Plan (FOTF)
RTI Plan

Lisa Mytton – Leader and
Portfolio Member; Sue Walker
– Chief Officer of Education;
Anthony Lewis – Head of
School Planning and
Improvement

Scrutiny and Challenge: - The Scrutiny Committee
will receive an update on the developments of the
Asset Management Plan (21st Century Schools)
projects for Learning.

Report on Youth Services

BS Best Start to Life
RARS Strategy

Lisa Mytton – Leader and
Portfolio Member; Sue Walker

Scrutiny and Challenge: - TBC

13th
September
2021

As per Audit Wales, scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area and the
outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements.

Corporate Wellbeing
Plan (FOTF)
RTI Plan

– Chief Officer of Education;
Chris Hole – Head of
Community Wellbeing

ESTYN Self Evaluation
Reporting (SER) Framework
(Inspection Area 2) and the
Corporate Self Evaluation KQ2

BS Best Start to Life
Corporate Wellbeing
Plan (FOTF)

Lisa Mytton – Leader and
Portfolio Member; Sue Walker
– Chief Officer of Education

Scrutiny and Challenge: - The Scrutiny Committee
will receive a report from the Chief Education Officer
on a Local Government Education Services Inspection
Framework, which has been aligned to the corporate
self-evaluation framework. The Committee will
review the findings report; and review the validity of
the judgements made by the Chief Officer to secure
assurance that these are robust and appropriately
evidenced.

COVID-19 Recovery & Pupil
Wellbeing – Overview of Pupil
standards and state of
Wellbeing

BS Best Start to Life
RARS Strategy
Corporate Wellbeing
Plan (FOTF)
RTI Plan

Lisa Mytton – Leader and
Portfolio Member; Sue Walker
– Chief Officer of Education
HT’s to be confirmed

Scrutiny and Challenge: - The scrutiny committee will
receive a report on the standards of pupils since
returning to school, as well as an update on the
wellbeing of pupils. SW to confirm 2 HT’s to attend

RARS Strategy – Progress
Update on Key Commitments

BS Best Start to Life
RARS Strategy
Corporate Wellbeing
Plan (FOTF)
RTI Plan

Lisa Mytton – Leader and
Portfolio Member; Sue Walker
– Chief Officer of Education

Scrutiny and Challenge: - The scrutiny committee will
explore and provide challenge on the progress made
against the key commitments set out within the
RARS Strategy.

Business Education Training
Partnership (BETP) Update

BS Best Start to Life
RARS Strategy
Corporate Wellbeing
Plan (FOTF)
RTI Plan

Lisa Mytton – Leader and
Portfolio Member; Sue Walker
– Chief Officer of Education;
Chris Hole – Head of
Community Wellbeing
Officers from RPP to be
considered

Scrutiny and Challenge: - Committee members will
examine and offer challenge in relation to the
progress of the BETP action plan.

Update Report from the
College of Merthyr Tydfil

BS Best Start to Life
RARS Strategy

Lisa Mytton – Leader and
Portfolio Member; Sue Walker
– Chief Officer of Education;

Scrutiny and Challenge: - The scrutiny committee will
receive a report from the College of Merthyr Tydfil
outlining elements of good practice as well as any

8th November
2021

Page 49
13th
December
2021

As per Audit Wales, scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area and the
outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements.

Page 50

24th January
2022

7th March
2022

Corporate Wellbeing
Plan (FOTF)
RTI Plan

Chris Hole – Head of
Community Wellbeing
College representatives to be
considered

potential areas of concern, including but not limited
to the issues relating to young people that are Not in
Education, Employment or Training (NEET).

ESTYN Self Evaluation
Reporting (SER) Framework
(Inspection Area 3) and the
Corporate Self Evaluation KQ3

BS Best Start to Life
Corporate Wellbeing
Plan (FOTF)

Lisa Mytton – Leader and
Portfolio Member; Sue Walker
– Chief Officer of Education;
Anthony Lewis – Head of
School Planning and
Improvement

Scrutiny and Challenge: - The Scrutiny Committee
will receive a report from the Chief Education Officer
on a Local Government Education Services Inspection
Framework, which has been aligned to the corporate
self-evaluation framework. The Committee will
review the findings report; and review the validity of
the judgements made by the Chief Officer to secure
assurance that these are robust and appropriately
evidenced.

Trauma Informed Care and
Nurture Provision

BS Best Start to Life
RARS Strategy
Corporate Wellbeing
Plan (FOTF)
RTI Plan

Lisa Mytton – Leader and
Portfolio Member; Sue Walker
– Chief Officer of Education;
Chris Hole – Head of
Community Wellbeing
HT’s to be considered

Scrutiny and Challenge: - This report was requested
by members during last year’s scrutiny committee
cycle (2020/21). The committee will explore the work
being undertaken by schools in relation to trauma
informed care and nurture provision.
Potential to hold as a workshop in one of the schools.

Attendance in Schools

BS Best Start to Life
RARS Strategy
Corporate Wellbeing
Plan (FOTF)
RTI Plan

Lisa Mytton – Leader and
Portfolio Member; Sue Walker
– Chief Officer of Education

Scrutiny and Challenge: - The scrutiny committee will
receive an update on attendance from early years to
secondary schools. The committee will examine the
work being done to improve attendance levels for all
learners.

ESTYN Self Evaluation
Reporting (SER) Framework
(Inspection Area 1) and the
Corporate Self Evaluation KQ1

BS Best Start to Life
Corporate Wellbeing
Plan (FOTF)

Lisa Mytton – Leader and
Portfolio Member; Sue Walker
– Chief Officer of Education;
Anthony Lewis – Head of
School Planning and
Improvement

Scrutiny and Challenge: - The Scrutiny Committee
will receive a report from the Chief Education Officer
on a Local Government Education Services Inspection
Framework, which has been aligned to the corporate
self-evaluation framework. The Committee will
review the findings report; and review the validity of
the judgements made by the Chief Officer to secure
assurance that these are robust and appropriately
evidenced.

As per Audit Wales, scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area and the
outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements.

Capita One Development

9th May 2022

Page 51

Date to be
confirmed

Cllr Lisa Mytton: Cabinet
Portfolio Member / Sue
Walker: Chief Officer –
Learning / Emma Strand: Data
Officer

Scrutiny and Challenge: - The Scrutiny Committee
will receive a report on use of Capita One within the
Learning Department and next steps for ongoing
development.

Cancelled due to May Elections

Additional items to consider for Work
To invite / visit Heads and Chairs of Governance at the following schools :





Date to be
confirmed

BS Best Start to Life
RARS Strategy
Corporate Wellbeing
Plan (FOTF)
RTI Plan

Ysgol Gynradd Gymraeg Santes Tudful
Pen-y-dre High School
Ynysowen Community Primary School
Visit Educated Other Than at School (EOTAS) to see what provision is available (before 8th April).
Visit LRB’s (Learning Resource Basis) as part of the programme of visits.

Curriculum for Wales – Readiness (9th May Committee cancelled due to elections)
CSC Challenge Framework

As per Audit Wales, scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area and the
outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements.

Neighbourhood Services, Countryside & Planning Scrutiny Committee
Work Programme Descriptors 2021/22
(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change)

Date / Timing

Overarching Item
Draft Committee Work
Programme 2021-2022

Cabinet Member & Officer(s)



Committee Chair
Committee Members

14/06/2021

Nappy Recycling



Page 52




14/06/2021

Asset Management
Plan
05/07/2021





Scrutiny Focus
The Committee to discuss the draft Work Programme and
to officially agree and sign off the Work Programme for
2020-2021

Cross-Cutting Strategies and
Plans
Focus on the Future:
wellbeing in our community
Recovery, Transformation
and Improvement Plan
(Governance)

Portfolio Member –
Neighbourhood Services,
Countryside & Planning
Chief Officer –
Neighbourhood Services,
Countryside & Planning
Waste Services Manager

Driving Improvement in Public Services: Nappy recycling is
a topic which Committee Members unanimously agreed
needs to be explored in more detail as it may help with
future recycling targets and go some way towards fulfilling
our collective responsibilities of reducing landfill /
incineration figures.
Cllr Lee Davies and Cllr Declan Sammon undertook
research and forwarded all information to MTCBC
Officers. The Committee will now receive a report which
has developed Committee Members findings to explore in
greater detail the resources that would be required to roll
out nappy recycling across Merthyr Tydfil County
Borough.

Focus on the Future:
wellbeing in our community

Portfolio Member –
Neighbourhood Services,
Countryside & Planning
Chief Officer –
Neighbourhood Services,
Countryside & Planning
Estates Manager

Scrutiny and Challenge: This report is to give Members
details of what property assets are held by the Local
Authority and discuss how the Authority decides on what
assets should be disposed of and future plans for assets.

Focus on the Future:
wellbeing in our community

Recovery, Transformation
and Improvement Plan
(Governance)
Beyond Recycling

Recovery, Transformation
and Improvement Plan
(Governance)

As per Audit Wales, scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area and the
outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements.

Planning





Portfolio Member –
Neighbourhood Services,
Countryside & Planning
Chief Officer –
Neighbourhood Services,
Countryside & Planning
Planning Officer(s)

05/07/2021

Driving Improvement in Public Services: Planning has been
a source of frustration for some residents due to the
challenges faced to make decisions based on local needs
without fear of financial penalty. This is a common query
faced by Elected Members when working within their
communities.

Focus on the Future:
wellbeing in our community
Recovery, Transformation
and Improvement Plan
(Governance)

A report has been requested to enable Committee
Members to gain information on Planning, to understand
what is involved in a material planning application and to
explore whether the planning process can be changed and
establish who would need to be lobbied in order to make
changes.

Page 53

On completion of this, the Committee Chair will provide
an update to the Committee to Members of the Planning
Committee, who would also like information on how
public involvement at meetings can be developed. It is
proposed that following this item, a Members Workshop
will follow in due course.
Recycling & Fly-Tipping




20/09/2021




Portfolio Member –
Neighbourhood Services,
Countryside & Planning
Chief Officer –
Neighbourhood Services,
Countryside & Planning
Waste Manager
Environmental Health
Manager

Scrutiny and Challenge / Driving Improvement in Public
Services: Committee Members have requested an update
on recycling figures and future plans to improve recycling
rates. The Committee would also like to explore data in
relation to recycling rates in our schools.
It is proposed a Task & Finish Group be set up to explore
recycling throughout the County Borough with a view to
identifying how it can be increased; and how this may
impact on Fly Tipping statistics with possible actions and
solutions offered.

Focus on the Future:
wellbeing in our community
Recovery, Transformation
and Improvement Plan
(Governance)
WG Litter & Fly-Tipping
Plan*

This report will then be forwarded onto the Regeneration
and Public Protection Scrutiny Committee who now deal
with fly-tipping.
* Draft Plan – currently under development by Welsh Government
As per Audit Wales, scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area and the
outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements.

Air Quality
Management - Action
Plan




20/09/2021


Local Development

Plan Annual Monitoring
Report

01/11/2021

Page 54



Children’s Play Areas /
Playgrounds




01/11/2021

Portfolio Member –
Neighbourhood Services,
Countryside & Planning
Chief Officer –
Neighbourhood Services,
Countryside & Planning
Environmental Health
Officer
Highways & Engineering
Officer
Portfolio Member –
Neighbourhood Services,
Countryside & Planning
Chief Officer –
Neighbourhood Services,
Countryside & Planning
Principal Planning Policy
Officer

Information Report - Air Quality Management Area. As
the Neighbourhood Services Committee have previously
received two reports on this issue, it was felt that
Members there would be value in receiving an update on
pollution and air quality around Twynyrodyn Road and the
Tesco Roundabout to scrutinise whether there have been
changes noted since the one-way system was reversed.

Focus on the Future:
wellbeing in our community

Provide Critical Friend Challenge to Executive Policy and
Decision-Makers: Under the provisions of the Planning
and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, all Councils have a
duty to produce an LDP Annual Monitoring Report (AMR)
which must be submitted to the Welsh Government by
the end of October each year.

Focus on the Future:
wellbeing in our community

Portfolio Member –
Neighbourhood Services,
Countryside & Planning
Chief Officer –
Neighbourhood Services,
Countryside & Planning

Scrutiny and Challenge: The Committee requests a report
on children’s play areas within the County Borough as this
topic is seen as Priority Investment by many members of
the public.

Recovery, Transformation
and Improvement Plan
(Governance)

Recovery, Transformation
and Improvement Plan
(Governance)

Scrutiny will – firstly consider whether the policies
identified in the monitoring framework are being
implemented, and secondly, consider whether the Plan as
a whole is working successfully.

The report should give information on the lack of
investment and damage to equipment; outline how much
it would cost to update current play areas/parks to their
original standard of equipment; and establish whether the
location of play areas leads to damage of equipment (as
play areas are often situated in isolated locations).
Members to discuss the report and work with officers to
explore possible solutions.

Focus on the Future:
wellbeing in our community
Recovery, Transformation
and Improvement Plan
(Governance)

As per Audit Wales, scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area and the
outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements.

HWRCs – permits and
booking systems




06/12/2021


Trade Waste Recycling




06/12/2021

Carbon Management/
De-Carbonisation




Page 55



17/01/2022


Grass Cutting & BioDiversity
17/01/2022





Portfolio Member –
Neighbourhood Services,
Countryside & Planning
Chief Officer –
Neighbourhood Services,
Countryside & Planning
Waste Services Manager

Scrutiny and Challenge / Driving Improvement in Public
Services: An update on how HWRC’s manage the delivery
of permits and booking systems.

Portfolio Member –
Neighbourhood Services,
Countryside & Planning
Chief Officer –
Neighbourhood Services,
Countryside & Planning
Waste Services Manager
Portfolio Member –
Neighbourhood Services,
Countryside & Planning
Chief Officer –
Neighbourhood Services,
Countryside & Planning
Chris Jones -Building &
Property services
Manager
Iain Goldsworthy –
Energy Engineer

Scrutiny and Challenge: This report has been requested to
update Committee Members on the implications of new
legislation coming into effect in July 2021 which effects
how trade waste is collected and disposed of.

Portfolio Member –
Neighbourhood Services,
Countryside & Planning
Chief Officer –
Neighbourhood Services,
Countryside & Planning
Street Scene Manager

Scrutiny and Challenge / Driving Improvement in Public
Services: The Committee has previously received reports
regarding grass cutting and biodiversity. An update is
requested on the new grass cutting schedules developed.

The report should outline the “pros and cons” of the
current system, and provide options for alternative
procedures looking at what systems other Authorities
have in place.

Focus on the Future:
wellbeing in our community
Recovery, Transformation
and Improvement Plan
(Governance)

Focus on the Future:
wellbeing in our community
Recovery, Transformation
and Improvement Plan
(Governance)
Beyond Recycling

Scrutiny and Challenge / Driving Improvement in Public
Services: Committee Members have monitored the
introduction of carbon management systems and
processes and have requested an update on the impact of
these (e.g.) savings achieved by the Council with the
employment of a Carbon Management Officer.

Focus on the Future:
wellbeing in our community
Recovery, Transformation
and Improvement Plan
(Governance)

Additionally, an update is requested on what impact we
are having in respect of reducing the organisation’s
carbon footprint and include detail on what the Council is
doing in relation to renewable energy.
The report should also refer to statutory and other
measures reported on by the team; enabling Committee
Members to scrutinise whether the Council is on track of
achieving its targets.

Additionally, Section 6 of the Environment (Wales) Act
sets down a duty requiring all public bodies to seek to

Focus on the Future:
wellbeing in our community
Recovery, Transformation
and Improvement Plan
(Governance)
Environment (Wales) Act

As per Audit Wales, scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area and the
outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements.

Furniture Reuse Shop



Ecologist



Portfolio Member –
Neighbourhood Services,
Countryside & Planning
Chief Officer –
Neighbourhood Services,
Countryside & Planning
Waste Services Manager



14/03/2022




maintain and enhance biodiversity so far as consistent
with the proper exercise of their functions and, in so
doing, promote the resilience of ecosystems. Committee
Members are keen to review how the Council is meeting
its bio-diversity obligations.
Driving Improvement in Public Service: Committee
Members seek a report which offers Committee Members
an update on the opening of the new ‘Furniture Reuse
Shop’. The Committee is keen to identify the benefits this
shop offers to residents of the County Borough; including
figures on items provided.

Page 56
25/04/2022






Recovery, Transformation
and Improvement Plan
(Governance)
Focus on the Future:
wellbeing in our community

14/03/2022

Fleet Management

Focus on the Future:
wellbeing in our community

Portfolio Member –
Neighbourhood Services,
Countryside & Planning
Chief Officer –
Neighbourhood Services,
Countryside & Planning
Fleet Manager

Scrutiny and Challenge: Committee Members have
received information on the fleet of vehicles due to be
updated during the financial year. With this in mind, the
Committee seeks a report outlining the fleet of vehicles
being updated / replaced. This report should also give an
update on the current status of breakdowns and missed
collections.

Recovery, Transformation
and Improvement Plan
(Governance)
Focus on the Future:
wellbeing in our community
Recovery, Transformation
and Improvement Plan
(Governance)
Focus on the Future:
wellbeing in our community

25/04/2022

Recovery, Transformation
and Improvement Plan
(Governance)
Additional topics for consideration

Topic

Source of Suggestion

Description

Scheduled

As per Audit Wales, scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area and the
outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements.

Regeneration & Public Protection Scrutiny Committee
Work Programme Descriptors 2021/22
(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change)

Date / Timing

25/05/2021

Overarching Item

Cabinet Member & Officer(s)

Draft Committee
Work Programme
2021-2022




Discussion around
Housing and
Homelessness





Page 57



25/05/2021

Committee Chair
Committee Members

Portfolio Members
Chief Officer
Head of Economic
Development
Housing Officer(s)

Scrutiny Focus
The Committee to discuss the draft Work Programme and
to officially agree and sign off the Work Programme for
2020-2021

The Committee has received reports on the current
position and pressures placed on housing services in
relation to both housing and homelessness. Current
Welsh Government legislative in relation to housing and
homelessness directs that now has a statutory obligation
to re-house those persons in temporary accommodation
as a result of the ongoing pandemic. This adds substantial
pressures to the Council and there’s a requirement to
identify innovative ways to house this client group.
Additionally, the requirement is not solely focused on
accommodation, but also the support that must be put in
place to enable the clients to sustain their tenancy.
The Committee will discuss a suggested approach to this
issue with the Cabinet Members and Chief Officer/officers
to establish how a cohesive overview of the situation can
be secured, and thereby supporting development of
collaborative solutions which can be addressed
collectively.

Cross-Cutting Strategies and
Plans
Focus on the Future:
wellbeing in our community
Recovery, Transformation
and Improvement Plan
(Governance)
Focus on the Future:
wellbeing in our community
Recovery, Transformation
and Improvement Plan
(Governance)
Wellbeing of Future
Generations (Wales) Act
2015
Housing (Wales) Act 2014

As per Audit Wales, scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area and the
outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements.

Update from South
Wales Police



06/07/2021

06/07/2021





The Regeneration of
Hoover Strategic
Regeneration Area
and Glebeland Street





Page 58

*EXEMPT ITEM*



Recovery,
Transformation and
Improvement Plan





Portfolio Members
Chief Officer
Head of Economic
Development
Head of Protection &
Safety Services

Portfolio Members
Chief Officer
Head of Economic
Development
Head of Protection &
Safety Services
Portfolio Members
Chief Officer
Head of Economic
Development


21/09/2021

21/09/2021

The Identified Issues
Arising as a result of
the end of EU
Funding






Portfolio Members
Chief Officer
Head of Economic
Development
Employability Manager

Driving Service Improvement in Public Services: The
Regeneration and Public Protection Committee discharges
the Council’s statutory Crime & Disorder responsibilities.
Officers from South Wales Police are to be invited to
attend a committee meeting to offer an overview of their
current activity across the County Borough, and provide
an update on key issues faced. Areas of specific interest
include anti-social behaviour; and the ‘101’ service
operated by Police.
Scrutiny & Challenge: Committee Members seek a report
on the ongoing activity linked to the developing proposals
regarding regeneration of the Hoover Strategic
Regeneration Area.

Driving Service Improvement in Public Services: The
Council’s Recovery, Transformation & Improvement Plan,
leading on the response to recovery and support to
communities across the County Borough. The services for
which the Chief Officer – Community Regeneration is
accountable for are key responders to the work to
support economic recovery.
The Committee seeks a report offering an overview of the
key actions/tasks being developed and delivered as part of
this activity. Detail on how this activity aligns and
integrates with other themes in the Recovery
Transformation and Improvement Plan and wider
corporate priorities would be welcomed.
Scrutiny and Challenge: Committee Members identified
that, with the current EU funding arrangements are due
to end in 2022; it is anticipated there could be a
significant impact on a number of services and
programmes currently being delivered across the County
Borough.

Crime & Disorder Act 1998
Wellbeing of Future
Generations (Wales) Act
2015

Focus on the future:
wellbeing in our community
Wellbeing of Future
Generations (Wales) Act
2015
Focus on the future:
wellbeing in our community
Wellbeing of Future
Generations (Wales) Act
2015

Focus on the Future:
wellbeing in our community
Recovery, Transformation &
Improvement Plan
Wellbeing of Future
Generations (Wales) Act
2015

As per Audit Wales, scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area and the
outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements.

In the first of three papers; the Committee seek a report
on the issues which would be faced across the Council as
a result of the end of all forms of European funding which
currently supports a number of services for our
communities.

Housing and
Homelessness







02/11/2021

Portfolio Members
Chief Officer
Head of Economic
Development
Housing Officer(s)
Representatives Registered Social
Landlords

Following earlier discussions, the Committee seeks to
receive an update on the progress made to date in
relation to the issues and/or challenges presented by a
change in Welsh Government legislation pertaining to
housing and homelessness.

Economic Growth Strategy
Cwm Taf Morgannwg Public
Services Board - ‘Strong
Economy’
Welsh Government –
Prosperity for All
Focus on the Future:
wellbeing in our community
Recovery, Transformation
and Improvement Plan
(Governance)
Wellbeing of Future
Generations (Wales) Act
2015

Page 59

Housing (Wales) Act 2014
02/11/2021
The Implications of
the End of EU
Funding






Portfolio Members
Chief Officer
Head of Economic
Development
Employability Manager

14/12/2021

In the second of three papers; the Committee seeks a
report on the issues which would be faced as a result of
the end of all forms of European funding might have on
our communities.

14/12/2021
25/01/2022

Scrutiny and Challenge: Committee Members identified
that, with the current EU funding arrangements are due
to end in 2022; it is anticipated there could be a
significant impact on a number of services and
programmes currently being delivered across the County
Borough.

Crucible/Cyfarthfa
Plan





Portfolio Members
Chief Officer

Following reports received by the Committee throughout
its development stages; the Crucible Plan was signed off
by Full Council in 2021. The multi-million pound project

Focus on the Future:
wellbeing in our community
Recovery, Transformation &
Improvement Plan
Wellbeing of Future
Generations (Wales) Act
2015
Economic Growth Strategy
Cwm Taf Morgannwg Public
Services Board - ‘Strong
Economy’

Focus on the Future:
wellbeing in our community

As per Audit Wales, scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area and the
outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements.




Head of Economic
Development
Strategic Regeneration
Manager

has been developed collaboratively and could have a
Recovery, Transformation &
significant impact on the destination/tourism industry as it Improvement Plan
progresses.
Wellbeing of Future
Committee Members have requested to be kept up to
Generations (Wales) Act
date with the progress of this with it being such a
2015
significant project.
Economic Growth Strategy
DRAFT Destination
Management Plan
(developing)
Welsh Government –
Prosperity for All

25/01/2022
Sexual Violence

Page 60




08/03/2022

End of EU Funding:
Proposed Successor
Funding

08/03/2022






Portfolio Members
Representatives from
New Pathways
Chief Officer
Head of Protection &
Safety Services

During the last municipal year, the Committee received
New Pathways who offered a presentation around sexual
violence and the instances and impact this issue has
across the County Borough. Committee Members advised
there would be benefit in receiving a further update to
explore ways in which we could work collaboratively (e.g.)
developing links in schools etc.
The Committee requests a report be presented to offer
updates on progress made to date; and to identify the
impact that this collaborative has on the issue.
Scrutiny and Challenge: Committee Members have
explored the issues and implications that the end of EU
funding might have on a number of services and
programmes currently being delivered to community
members across the County Borough.
In the last of three papers; the Committee would
welcome a report on the position in regards to anticipated
successor funding (e.g.) the Shared Prosperity Fund.
Information on the current position regarding
replacement/legacy funding and how this could be
accessed to sustain key, critical services delivered by the
Council should be included. Committee Members are
keen to understand more around this; and the possible

Crime & Disorder Act 1998
Wellbeing of Future
Generations (Wales) Act
2015
Violence against Women,
Domestic Abuse and Sexual
Violence (Wales) Act 2015

Focus on the Future:
wellbeing in our community
Recovery, Transformation &
Improvement Plan
Wellbeing of Future
Generations (Wales) Act
2015
Economic Growth Strategy
Cwm Taf Morgannwg Public
Services Board - ‘Strong
Economy’

As per Audit Wales, scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area and the
outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements.

risks in delays of subsequent replacement funding might
have on citizens and the services’ sustainability in the
longer term.

Welsh Government –
Prosperity for All

This information will enable Committee Members to be
clear on any significant changes; and work with officers to
try to ensure minimum impact is felt by communities
across the County Borough; and the Council itself as a
result of this significant change.
26/04/2022
26/04/2022




Page 61

Topic
Hoover Master Plan

Source of Suggestion
Member of the Public

Kickstart
Programme

Links to Recovery,
Transformation and
Improvement Plan

Placemaking Plans

Arising from Committee
discussions

Redevelopment of
the YMCA

Arising from Committee
discussions

Additional topics for consideration
Description
Public awareness around the proposed development of the Hoover site is growing and
people are keen to find out more about what is being discussed, what impact any
development would have on the people living in the areas around the Hoover site as
well as to find out what role the Council will play in this. This development is
understood to align with the ongoing development of the Cardiff and the Regions City
Deal Offer and the Committee would seek to explore key requirements etc.
National government have introduced the Kickstart scheme as part of their recovery
programmes responding to the ongoing pandemic. Kickstart provides funding to
employers to create jobs for 16 to 24 year olds on Universal Credit. Kickstart is seen as
a key tool to support economic recovery.
This proposed topic was identified at the joint Work Programme planning meeting on
Monday 10th May. Previously the Committee has received information on Town
Centre Place-Making Plan; it has been proposed that this topic be looked at from a
wider perspective.
The Committee has previously voiced a need to understand more about the
redevelopment of the YMCA building at Pontmorlais. Previous discussions highlighted
the complexity of the funding plan to develop this asset.

Scheduled

Committee Members request an update be provided to them who were keen to secure
up-to-date information on progress to date.

As per Audit Wales, scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area and the
outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements.

Social Services Scrutiny Committee
Work Programme Descriptors 2021/22
(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change)

Committee
Date

Page 62

8th June
2021

Overarching Item

Officer & Cabinet Member

Forward Work
Programme
2020/2021

Cllr Bill Smith (Chair) and
Scrutiny Committee
Members

The Supporting
Change Service
(Strategy Update)

Taryn Stephens (Head of
Children Service)/Lisa
Curtis-Jones (Chief Officer
Social Services)/Cllr Chris
Davies (Cabinet Member
for Social Services and
Deputy Leader)
Lisa Curtis-Jones (Chief
Officer Social
Services)/Cllr Chris Davies
(Cabinet Member for
Social Services and Deputy
Leader)

RTI Plan Update
(Completed
Projects/ Key
Projects)

Annual Report on
Social Services
(2020/21)
13th July
2021

Lisa Curtis-Jones (Chief
Officer Social
Services)/Cllr Chris Davies
(Cabinet Member for
Social Services and Deputy
Leader)

Scrutiny Focus

Scrutiny & Challenge: - The draft Forward Work Programme is developed at
the beginning of the municipal year by the Members of the Social Services
Scrutiny Committee, which includes the areas the members wish to focus on
throughout the year. However, it is a fluid document and it may change due
to the needs of the Social Services Scrutiny Committee. Therefore, the
committee is to consider and approve the Forward Work Programme as it
stands for Social Services (2020/2021).
Scrutiny & Challenge: - The Head of Children’s Services will provide a
position statement on the Supporting Change Service. The
report will highlight the progress being made in this service area, areas of
development and improvement.

Scrutiny & Challenge: - The Chief Officer for Social Services will provide an
updated report around the Recovery and transformation plan, looking at
they key projects. For this meeting an overall update will be given and
details around the projects that have already been completed.

Consultation:- as part of the preparation for the Annual Social Services
report we are required to consult with stakeholders. This session is with
scrutiny members to consider the past year and look at areas of
development in 21/22.

Cross Cutting
Strategies and
Plans
Recovery,
Transformation &
Improvement Plan
(Governance)

Focus on the
Future.
SSWBA.
Recovery,
Transformation &
Improvement
Plan.
Recovery,
Transformation &
Improvement Plan
(Governance)

Focus on the
Future.
SSWBA.
Recovery,
Transformation &
Improvement
Plan.

As per Audit Wales, scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area and the
outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements.

Update on the
Position of Care
Homes (Recovery
Plan)

Covid Recovery
Plan

Page 63

Safeguarding
Audit Report
Findings (From
Internal Audit)

Corporate Self
Evaluation KQ1 Outcomes

7th
September
2021
RTI Plan Update

Angela Edevane (Head of
Adult Service)/Lisa CurtisJones (Chief Officer Social
Services)/Cllr Chris Davies
(Cabinet Member for
Social Services and Deputy
Leader)
Taryn Stephens (head of
Children Services)/Angela
Edevane (Head of Adult
Service)/Lisa Curtis-Jones
(Chief Officer Social
Services)/Cllr Chris Davies
(Cabinet Member for
Social Services and Deputy
Leader)
Jon Eyre (Principal Officer
for Safeguarding)/Lisa
Curtis-Jones (Chief Officer
Social Services)/Cllr Chris
Davies (Cabinet Member
for Social Services and
Deputy Leader)
Taryn Stephens (head of
Children Services)/Angela
Edevane (Head of Adult
Service)/Lisa Curtis-Jones
(Chief Officer Social
Services)/Cllr Chris Davies
(Cabinet Member for
Social Services and Deputy
Leader)
Lisa Curtis-Jones (Chief
Officer Social
Services)/Cllr Chris Davies
(Cabinet Member for

Scrutiny & Challenge: - The Head of Adult Services will provide a position
statement on the position within the care home sector. The report will also
identify key areas for development and improvement.

Scrutiny and Challenge: This is to provide an overview to Scrutiny members
of the past year and the impact on COVID on social services. With a view to
outlining the plans to recovery.

Scrutiny and Challenge: A corporate review of safeguarding was undertaken
by Internal audit in April/May 2021. This report outlines the findings and
recommendations from this audit.

Scrutiny and Challenge: Made up of 3 key questions the re-focused selfevaluation process supports Chief Officers and service teams to reflect on
what they achieved and identify and set priorities for improvement. The
Committee will receive the service’s response to the first of the key questions
which is linked to Outcomes. They will be required to scrutinise the proforma
outlining the findings of the process (along with relevant supporting
evidence); and review the validity of the judgment ascribed.

Scrutiny & Challenge: - The Chief Officer for Social Services will provide an
updated report around the Recovery and transformation plan, looking at key
projects.

Focus on the
Future.
SSWBA.
Recovery,
Transformation &
Improvement
Plan.
Focus on the
Future.
SSWBA.
Recovery,
Transformation &
Improvement
Plan.

Focus on the
Future.
SSWBA.
Recovery,
Transformation &
Improvement
Plan.
Focus on the
Future.
SSWBA.
Recovery,
Transformation &
Improvement
Plan.

Focus on the
Future.
SSWBA.
Recovery,
Transformation &

As per Audit Wales, scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area and the
outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements.

Annual Report on
Social Services
(2020/21)

Social Services and Deputy
Leader)
Lisa Curtis-Jones (Chief
Officer Social
Services)/Cllr Chris Davies
(Cabinet Member for
Social Services and Deputy
Leader)

Page 64

Cwm Taf Youth
Offending Service
(YOS) (Annual
Report - listed for
Cabinet on 16/06)

Lyndon Lewis (Youth
Offending Service
Manager)/Taryn Stephens
(Head of Children
Services/ Cllr Chris Davies
( Cabinet Member for
Social Services and Deputy
Leader)

Annual Report –
Social Services
Complaints and
Compliments
(2020/21)

Gaynor Lewis (Corporate
Complaints Officer)/Lisa
Curtis-Jones (Chief Officer
Social Services)/Cllr Chris
Davies (Cabinet Member
for Social Services and
Deputy Leader)

Adult Social Care
Strategies – Day
Services (position
of ds, implications
of closure and
support provided)

Angela Edevane (Head of
Adult Service)/Lisa CurtisJones (Chief Officer Social
Services)/Cllr Chris Davies
(Cabinet Member for

12th
October
2021

Scrutiny & Challenge: - The Chief Officer for Social Services will present the
Annual Report on Social Services for 20/21. This report should contain
all further updates from any additional consultation and previous comments
made by Scrutiny, before submitting to Full Council.

Scrutiny & Challenge: - The Youth Offending Service (YOS) is a multi-agency
team which is made up of members of the Police, Probation, Health,
Education, Substance Misuse and Social Services; as well as other specific to
the team. The YOS deals with young people between the ages of 10 and 18
who are involved in the criminal justice system and those who are just on the
periphery of becoming involved in the system.
The committee requires a position statement on the performance within the
Cwm Taf region along with any details of issues/barriers experienced and
how these have been overcome. The report is also to consider key areas for
development and improvement for 2020/21 within Merthyr Tydfil.
Scrutiny & Challenge: - Local Authorities are required to the Social Services
Complaints Procedure (Wales) Regulations 2014 and the Representations
Procedure (Wales) Regulations 2014 to produce an Annual Report about the
operation of their Social Services Complaints, Representations and
Compliments Policy and Procedures.
The complaints reports are completed retrospectively after the complaints
have been resolved; this can take up to 6-8 months after the financial year.
The committee has requested an end of year report
(2020/21) for consideration and challenge. The report should include any
details of issues/barriers experienced and how these have been overcome.
The report is also to identify key areas for development and improvement
for 21/22.
Scrutiny & Challenge: - The Head of Adult Services will provide a position
statement in respect of Day Services. The report is also to identify key areas
for development and improvement.

Improvement
Plan.
Focus on the
Future.
SSWBA.
Recovery,
Transformation &
Improvement
Plan.
Focus on the
Future.
SSWBA.
Recovery,
Transformation &
Improvement
Plan.

Focus on the
Future
SSWBA

Focus on the
Future.
SSWBA.
Recovery,
Transformation &
Improvement

As per Audit Wales, scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area and the
outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements.

Page 65

23rd
November
2021

4th January
2022

Social Services and Deputy
Leader)
Children Services Taryn Stephens (Head of
Strategies – Early Children Service)/Lisa
Help Hub
Curtis-Jones (Chief Officer
Social Services)/Cllr Chris
Davies (Cabinet Member
for Social Services and
Deputy Leader)
Update on Budget Lisa Curtis-Jones (Chief
Position
Officer Social
Services)/Cllr Chris Davies
(Cabinet Member for
Social Services and Deputy
Leader)
Children Services Taryn Stephens (Head of
Strategies –
Children Service)/Lisa
Corporate
Curtis-Jones (Chief Officer
Parenting Board
Social Services)/Cllr Chris
(also to cover
Davies (Cabinet Member
CLA)
for Social Services and
Deputy Leader)
RTI Plan Update
Lisa Curtis-Jones (Chief
Officer Social
Services)/Cllr Chris Davies
(Cabinet Member for
Social Services and Deputy
Leader)
Regional
Partnership
Business

Plan.
Scrutiny & Challenge: - The Head of Children Services will provide a position
statement in respect of the Early help Hub. The report is
also to identify key areas for development and improvement.

Scrutiny & Challenge: - A report is to be presented to Scrutiny providing an
update on Social Services budget and areas of likely overspend and the
measures that have been put in place to help reduce any overspend within
the department. This report should also give any details of issues/barriers
experienced and how these have been overcome.
Scrutiny & Challenge: - The Head of Children Services will provide a position
statement in respect of the Corporate Parenting Board and Children Looked
after. The report is also to identify key areas for development and
improvement.

Scrutiny & Challenge: - The Chief Officer for Social Services will provide an
updated report around the Recovery and transformation plan, looking at key
projects.

Lisa Curtis-Jones (Chief
Scrutiny & Challenge: - This report is to provide a regional annual position
Officer Social
summary along with a current position update on this service within Merthyr
Services)/Cllr Chris Davies Tydfil
(Cabinet Member for
Social Services and Deputy
Leader)

Focus on the
Future.
SSWBA.
Recovery,
Transformation &
Improvement
Plan.
Focus on the
Future

Focus on the
Future.
SSWBA.
Recovery,
Transformation &
Improvement
Plan.
Focus on the
Future.
SSWBA.
Recovery,
Transformation &
Improvement
Plan.
Focus on the
Future.
SSWBA.
Recovery,
Transformation &
Improvement
Plan.

As per Audit Wales, scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area and the
outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements.

Corporate Self
Evaluation KQ2 –
Provision &
Service Delivery

Cwm Taf
Safeguarding
Board Annual
Report (and
current update)

Page 66

Adult Advocacy
Strategy
15th
February
2022

RTI Plan Update

Taryn Stephens (head of
Children Services)/Angela
Edevane (Head of Adult
Service)/Lisa Curtis-Jones
(Chief Officer Social
Services)/Cllr Chris Davies
(Cabinet Member for
Social Services and Deputy
Leader)
Nicola Kingham
(Safeguarding Board
Manager)/Lisa CurtisJones (Chief Officer Social
Services)/Cllr Chris Davies
(Cabinet Member for
Social Services and Deputy
Leader)

Scrutiny and Challenge: Made up of 3 key questions the re-focused selfevaluation process supports Chief Officers and service teams to reflect on
what they achieved and identify and set priorities for improvement. The
Committee will receive the service’s response to the first of the key questions
which is linked to Outcomes. They will be required to scrutinise the proforma
outlining the findings of the process (along with relevant supporting
evidence); and review the validity of the judgment ascribed.

Scrutiny & Challenge: - Safeguarding is a clear priority for the Council. As a
Local Authority we have a duty to safeguard children and adults at risk as set
out by the Social Services and Well-Being Act (SSWBA). Therefore, the
committee has requested a summary of the Safeguarding Board Annual
Regional Plan, which is to also identify the key areas of improvement
going forward both regionally and in Merthyr Tydfil.
The cover report should include any trend/current data specific Merthyr
Tydfil and details of issues/barriers experienced and how these have been
overcome. The report is also to identify key areas for development and
improvement for 2021/22.
Angela Edevane (Head of
Scrutiny and Challenge: - The Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act
Adult Service)/Lisa Curtis- 2014 defines advocacy services as: “services which provide assistance (by
Jones (Chief Officer Social way of representation or otherwise) to persons for purposes relating to their
Services)/Cllr Chris Davies care and support”. The act refers to services being provided by independent
(Cabinet Member for
professional advocates in relation to adults’ and children’s care and support.
Social Services and Deputy Adult Advocacy was identified as an area for improvement in the Social
Leader)
Services Recovery, Transformation, and Improvement Plan. This is an update
to scrutiny members on the current position regards adult advocacy.
The report should also provide any details of issues / barriers experienced
and how these have been overcome and priorities going forward, and any
analysis of the engagement undertaken and a draft of the co-produced
strategy (if possible).
Taryn Stephens (head of
Children Services)/Angela
Edevane (Head of Adult
Service)/Lisa Curtis-Jones
(Chief Officer Social

Scrutiny & Challenge: - The Chief Officer for Social Services will provide an
updated report around the Recovery and transformation plan, looking at key
projects.

Focus on the
Future.
SSWBA.
Recovery,
Transformation &
Improvement
Plan.

Focus on the
Future
SSWBA

Focus on the
Future.
SSWBA.
Recovery,
Transformation &
Improvement
Plan.

Focus on the
Future.
SSWBA.
Recovery,
Transformation &

As per Audit Wales, scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area and the
outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements.

Corporate Self
Evaluation KQ3 –
Leadership &
Management

Page 67

29th March
2022

Vale, Valleys &
Cardiff Adoption
Collaborative
(VVC) Annual
Report

Adults and Young
Carers Update

10th May
2022

Services)/Cllr Chris Davies
(Cabinet Member for
Social Services and Deputy
Leader)
Taryn Stephens (head of
Children Services)/Angela
Edevane (Head of Adult
Service)/Lisa Curtis-Jones
(Chief Officer Social
Services)/Cllr Chris Davies
(Cabinet Member for
Social Services and Deputy
Leader)
Taryn Stephens (head of
Children Services)/ Lisa
Curtis-Jones (Chief Officer
Social Services)/Cllr Chris
Davies (Cabinet Member
for Social Services and
Deputy Leader)
Taryn Stephens (head of
Children Services)/Angela
Edevane (Head of Adult
Service)/Lisa Curtis-Jones
(Chief Officer Social
Services)/Cllr Chris Davies
(Cabinet Member for
Social Services and Deputy
Leader)

Improvement
Plan.

Scrutiny and Challenge: Made up of 3 key questions the re-focused selfevaluation process supports Chief Officers and service teams to reflect on
what they achieved and identify and set priorities for improvement. The
Committee will receive the service’s response to the first of the key questions
which is linked to Outcomes. They will be required to scrutinise the proforma
outlining the findings of the process (along with relevant supporting
evidence); and review the validity of the judgment ascribed.

Focus on the
Future.
SSWBA.
Recovery,
Transformation &
Improvement
Plan.

Scrutiny & Challenge: - This report is to provide a regional annual position
summary for the VVC adoption collaboration, along with a current position
update on this service within Merthyr Tydfil.

Focus on the
Future.
SSWBA.

Scrutiny & Challenge: - A report is to be presented to Scrutiny on the
Carers Strategy and the impact it is having on the Adults and Young Carers.
Details should also be provided on any issues/barriers experienced and how
these have been overcome or how you plan to overcome them. The report is
also to consider key areas for development and improvement for 2021/22
within Merthyr Tydfil.

Focus on the
Future.
SSWBA.
Recovery,
Transformation &
Improvement
Plan.

Cancelled due to May elections.

As per Audit Wales, scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area and the
outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements.

Additional Topics for Consideration
2020/21 Self-Evaluation
(3 questions)
Dates of completion of
2020/21 SER questions
are yet to be confirmed.

Recovery,
Transformation &
Improvement Plan Adult Advocacy

Lisa Curtis-Jones (Chief
Officer of Social Services) /
Angela Edevane (Head of
Adult Services) / Taryn
Hudd (Head of Children’s
Services) / Councillor Chris
Davies (Portfolio Member)
Angela Edevane (Head of
Adult Services) /
Councillor Chris Davies
(Portfolio Member)

Page 68

Item presented on the
2nd February. This is to
be brought back to
Scrutiny 6 months from
the date it was
presented to provide
committee members
with an update on the
position/ development
of this particular item.
Edge of Care (Strategy
Update) Deferred from
April to next committee
cycle. Agreed by Chair
on the 14th April 2021.

Taryn Hudd (Head of
Children’s Services) /
Councillor Chris Davies
(Portfolio Member)

Scrutiny and Challenge: Made up of 3 key questions the re-focused selfevaluation process supports Chief Officers and service teams to reflect on
what they achieved and identify and set priorities for improvement. The
Committee will receive the service’s response to the first of the key
questions which is linked to Outcomes. They will be required to scrutinise
the proforma outlining the findings of the process (along with relevant
supporting evidence); and review the validity of the judgment ascribed.
Scrutiny and Challenge: - The Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act
2014 defines advocacy services as: “services which provide assistance (by
way of representation or otherwise) to persons for purposes relating to their
care and support”. The act refers to services being provided by independent
professional advocates in relation to adults’ and children’s care and support.
Adult Advocacy has been identified as an area for improvement in the Social
Services Recovery, Transformation, and Improvement Plan, therefore, the
members request an update report to be presented on the development of
advocacy services for adults. The report should also provide any details of
issues / barriers experienced and how these have been overcome and
priorities going forward, and any analysis of the engagement undertaken
and a draft of the co-produced strategy (if possible).

Focus on the Future

Scrutiny & Challenge: - Summary report providing a position statement on
the performance within 20/21, along with any details of issues/barriers
experienced and how these have been overcome. The report is also to
consider key areas for development and improvement for 2020/21 within
Merthyr Tydfil.

Focus on the Future

Recovery,
Transformation &
Improvement Plan
Focus on the Future
SSWBA

SSWBA

As per Audit Wales, scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area and the
outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements.

